CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S GAMBLING: RESEARCH REVIEW

Report by Professor Gill Valentine

for the Responsible Gambling Trust

This report was written by: Gill Valentine, Professor of Geography, University of Sheffield, UK. Contact: g.valentine@sheffield.ac.uk

The Responsible Gambling Trust 35 Piccadilly London W1J 0DW UK

Recommended citation: Valentine G. (2016) *Children and Young People's Gambling: Research Review.* The Responsible Gambling Trust, London.

© The Responsible Gambling Trust and Gill Valentine 2016

CONTENTS

Executive Summary 1			
1	Introduction	6	
2	Definitions	7	
3	Patterns of Young People's Gambling Behaviour	10	
4	The Prevalence of Children and Young People's Problem Gambling: evidence		
	from UK and International research	18	
5	Motivations for Gambling	31	
6	The Transmission of Patterns of Gambling: intergenerational and peer group		
	factors	35	
7	The Impact of Gambling on Young People and Families	40	
8	Regulatory Frameworks to Protect Young People	43	
9	The Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling	51	
10	Recommendations for Future Research	59	

Executive Summary

Research Findings

Prevalence rates of young people's gambling and problem gambling

- Over nearly 20 years prevalence studies of young people's gambling in North America, and Australia have consistently found that between 60 to 90 per cent of young people report having gambled in the past year. The figures for Great Britain and Germany are slightly lower with prevalence studies suggesting that the percentage of young people who have gambled in the past year ranges between 54 and 75 per cent.
- Between 2009 and 2014 the number of children (aged 11 to 15) who reported that they had gambled on the internet in the week prior to the survey had doubled.
- Based on findings from studies in North America, Australia, New Zealand and the Nordic countries it is estimated between approximately 3-5 per cent of young people are problem gamblers. Though recent studies in the UK put the figure for problem gambling lower at between 1 and 2 per cent.
- Research suggests that rates of problem gambling amongst young people may be higher among those who gamble on the internet compared with those who gamble offline. However, it is not clear whether this pattern is a product of problem gamblers' greater susceptible to gambling online because of the unique opportunities it affords to gamble anywhere; or whether teenage problem gamblers add the internet to their existing modes of gambling.
- Repeat studies show that since the early 1990s that adolescents' participation in gambling and rates of problem gambling have remained stable or declined in most of the jurisdictions considered by their study.
- A significant body of research has suggested that the younger the age at which problem gambling develops the greater will be the consequences and severity of gambling in later life
- Recent longitudinal research suggests that young people may grow out of gambling problems as they get older. This counters the findings of an earlier body of nonlongitudinal research which appeared to show that early exposure to gambling increases the risk of developing gambling problems later in life.

Patterns of young people's gambling behaviours

- Young people may have trouble differentiating between the concepts of: luck, fate, chance and probability. They often use these terms interchangeably, whereas adults are more aware of the differences between these terms.
- Young people are motivated to gamble for a number of different reasons including: for entertainment, to win money, the sensation of winning, the thrill of the game, or to escape stress/problems. Much less is known about why some individuals become problem gamblers while for others gambling remains a casual activity without harmful consequences.
- Studies have identified that products in the gaming and gambling industries are converging: gambling products are including gaming themes; gambling themes are being integrated into games; and operators are encouraging customers to engage in both types of activity.
- Pathological and problem gambling by young people has been associated with a higher incidence of psychological and psychosocial concerns including risk-taking and impulsivity leading to research to examine whether neurological deficits in particular areas of the brain may explain these patterns of behaviour.
- Key social risk factors which may increase the likelihood of a child or young person developing a gambling problem include: having parents who introduce them to gambling at an early age; having parents who are heavy gamblers themselves; having friends who are problem gamblers.
- Boys/young men start gambling earlier, gamble more often (offline and online), and are more at risk of becoming problem gamblers than girls/young women. Boys are also less likely to consider gambling frequently to be a risky activity and are more likely to have confidence in their own gambling skills than girls: a gendered pattern which is also evident in early adulthood.
- Preliminary evidence suggests that young people from minority ethnic groups are more likely to gamble and to become problem gamblers than those from majority groups
- Young people who have developed problem gambling also experience a range of mental health issues including depression and anxiety disorders, and suicidal thoughts/attempts. They are also more likely to: truant and perform poorly at school; engage in alcohol and drug abuse; exhibit anti-social behaviours (e.g. stealing); and experience disruption to family and peer relationships. However, the research evidence has not clearly established which of, and to what extent, these factors were present prior to problem

gambling; or whether problem gambling caused these outcomes. In other words, problem gambling is often one element in a general pattern of high risk or anti-social behaviour

• The impact of young people's problem gambling is commonly transferred onto other family members – particularly parents/carers, and siblings.

Young people's access to gambling opportunities and associated prevention and regulation

- Online gambling opportunities are now available through multiple platforms (e.g. desk top computers, laptops, tablets and smart phones): platforms which are readily accessible to most young people. Gambling applications have also emerged within other applications such as social networking sites and gaming sites.
- There is an ongoing debate in the UK as to whether social gaming (gambling-style games available through social network platforms and gaming websites) should be subject to legal regulation in the same way as gambling.
- There is little public awareness or concern about problem underage gambling. Children's gambling has been dubbed a hidden addiction. There is relatively little provision of information about problem gambling in educational contexts. School based prevention programmes are relatively rare although preliminary evaluations suggest that the results of such programmes are encouraging. Online peer groups might also offer a way of reaching and supporting young problem gamblers. Treatment programmes also need to include family-based therapy and to address family dynamics.
- Within the gambling studies literature specifically there is some evidence that the majority of young people are aware of the potential dangers gambling poses in terms of addiction and debt. However, the evidence from the wider social studies of childhood literature suggests that young people often ignore public health messages (e.g. about alcohol, obesity, sex etc.) despite being aware of the risks they run with their own behaviour
- Research suggests that the most effective educational messages to reach young people are simple, non-judgemental, and based on real-life stories which emotionally engage young audiences and demonstrate the negative consequences of gambling. Critical 'don't do it' style messages – which have often characterised public health campaigns aimed at young people (e.g. sex, drugs and alcohol) – are not likely to be successful in changing young people's attitudes towards or gambling behaviour.

Transmission of patterns of gambling

• There is an extensive body of international evidence which demonstrates the role of parents in introducing children to gambling and normalising this activity as part of banal family activities/histories.

- Some studies have found a link between adult problem gamblers and later problem gambling amongst their own children suggesting a pattern of intergenerational transmission.
- Fewer fathers than mothers considered underage gambling to be a serious issue; while mothers are the parent most likely to talk to a child about gambling.
- Young people are susceptible to internalizing the views and practices of other family members, besides parents with whom they are close (e.g. siblings and grandparents).
- Problematic or anti-social behaviour amongst young people is 'contagious' because 'influential friends' legitimise these activities and enrol others into them through processes including goading, coercion and competitiveness.
- Parents are less likely to talk to their children about gambling than about other 'risky' behaviours such as drinking, smoking and drugs.
- Young people's problem gambling is not necessarily visible because they often do not seek help from formal agencies for their problems because of shame, fear they will be denied help, or because their problem gambling can be hidden within, or by, the family.

Implications

- There is relatively little public information about, or awareness of, the potential risks associated with underage gambling in relation to other risk taking behaviours such as alcohol and drugs. Greater emphasis needs to be put on raising teachers' awareness of gambling in teacher education training and in establishing prevention programmes to address gambling with young people similar to those used in relation to other 'risky' behaviours.
- Gambling prevention programmes for families need to take account of, and address, the gendered nature of parental attitudes and behaviours
- The consistent pattern of relatively high rates of problem gambling among young people across a range of national contexts with variable legislative frameworks cast doubts on the effectiveness of regulatory frameworks in influencing rates of problem gambling amongst young people. The evidence from countries where young people's access to gambling is more tightly regulated than in the UK is that these regulations are difficult to enforce and that young people subvert them and gamble regardless of the law.
- In the light of the prevalence rate for young people's problem gambling and the limited success of regulatory and enforcement regimes, problem gambling should be recognised as a potential public health issue – with young people the group at most risk.

- A public health model of gambling would involve (i) challenging the normalisation of gambling (ii) preventative policies (e.g. public education) which might better equip young people with the skills to understand the potential negative impacts of gambling; and (iii) a harm reduction strategy (including specific treatment programs aimed at young people).
- Modelling tools need to be developed to enable schools where there is likely to be a
 prevalence of problem gambling to be identified so that specialist public health resources
 can be effectively targeted.

Research Gaps

In the light of the above evidence further research is needed to:

- continue to explore ongoing technological advances in gambling on the prevalence and patterns of young people's gambling.
- investigate further how children and young people understand and experience monetary and non-monetary gambling, and whether they are sufficiently aware of the differences and associated risks.
- understand the complexity of family relationships (including siblings and grandparents), parenting practices and socio-demographics which influence gambling behaviours.
- examine the impact of advertising on children and young people's attitudes to gambling and actual practices.
- further longitudinal research is needed to test the evidence of recent findings which show that young people may grow out of gambling problems as they get older.
- investigate in more detail patterns of problem gambling within minority ethnic communities, and cultural and religious differences in patterns of gambling and problem gambling.
- evaluate the effectiveness of preventative strategies (including a long term evaluation of school education programmes) aimed at young people's gambling behaviours; to develop more understanding of young problem gamblers help-seeking strategies (on-line and off-line); and the barriers which prevent some young people from seeking help in order to improve age-appropriate support for this 'vulnerable' group.

1. Introduction

Over the past 20 years there has been a liberalisation of the operation and regulation of gambling activities internationally, with only a minority of jurisdictions continuing to strictly prohibit any form of gambling (Temcheff et al. 2011). At the same time, new and emerging technologies have led to the rapid proliferation of the opportunities and possibilities to gamble worldwide through multiple platforms (e.g. desk top computers, laptops, tablets and smart phones) and gambling applications have also appeared within other applications such as social networking sites and gaming sites. Gambling industries have expanded internationally and promoted their activities in the media, online via pop-up messages, at points of sale, and in public advertising spaces (notably at sporting events). As such, in the UK, and most other contemporary western societies (e.g. Australia, New Zealand, Nordic countries), gambling has become a widely accepted, socially desirable entertainment and leisure activity and a common feature of charity and fund raising events (Problem Gambling Foundation of New Zealand and Centre for Gambling Studies 2003, May-Chahal et al. 2004, Derevensky and Gillespie 2005, Volberg et al. 2010, Derevensky, Sklar et al. 2010). As a consequence contemporary children and young people have unprecedented exposure to a range of gambling opportunities. This has promoted concerns about children's ability to gamble underage even in regulated venues, particularly as gambling has become conceptualised as a public health issue in the last decade (Messerlian et al. 2005).

This review summarises international evidence about children and young people's participation in different types of gambling activities, their motivations to gamble, and the effects this gambling may have on them. In adopting an international perspective this review focuses on specific comparable international jurisdictions, namely: North America, Australia, New Zealand and the Nordic countries. This is because there is less available evidence about approaches to problem gambling from other cultural contexts, and because these identified international contexts are those most culturally similar to the UK (Abbot et al. 2004).

The Review is structured into the following sections:

Section 2 - Definitions. Section 3 – Patterns of Young People's Gambling Behaviours. Section 4 – the Prevalence of Children and Young People's Problem Gambling. Section 5 – Children and Young People's Motivations for Gambling. Section 6 - The Transmission of Patterns of Gambling: Intergenerational and Peer Group Factors. Section 7 – The Impact of Gambling on Young People and their Families. Section 8 - Regulatory Frameworks to Protect Young People.

Section 9 – The Prevention and Treatment of Problem Gambling. Section 10 – Recommendations for the Future.

In outlining the current evidence base the Review considers the prevalence of problem gambling among children and young people and the harms caused to them by gambling (including in later life). Here it recognises both social explanations for children and young people's gambling, as well as neuroscientific research; and draws on findings from a growing number of longitudinal studies that have tracked young people's gambling trajectories into adulthood. Given the rapid development of internet gambling and social gaming the review plays particular attention to the emerging evidence base about these forms of participation. It also identifies a growing recognition of how patterns of gambling vary not just by gender, but also by ethnicity and cultural differences. The review concludes by reflecting on strategies to prevent problem gambling (highlighting the underdeveloped potential role of teachers and schools), summarising the regulatory frameworks in place across a range of comparable international jurisdictions, and making recommendations for further research necessary to inform the development of UK policy in order to protect children.

2. Definitions

'Young people' is used in this review as an umbrella term to embrace the full gamut of phrases, including: children, adolescents, teens, teenagers, juveniles, youth and young adults, which are variously, employed by different studies in the literature reviewed. There is no standard or accepted definition of where childhood ends and adulthood begins. Indeed, historians have observed that the concept childhood is a relatively modern phenomenon that was fostered through the development of the formal education system (Aries 1962). It was not until the late 19th and early 20th centuries that the concept of childhood as temporally set apart from the adult world and as a time of 'innocence' and freedom from the responsibilities of adulthood became widely accepted; and that social development (in terms of rationality, competence etc) came to be dovetailed with physical development (Prout and James 1990). Likewise, the notion of adolescence or the teenage years were only 'invented' in the 1950s to describe the transitional stage of dependence to independence (Hebdige 1988). The boundary between childhood and adulthood is liminal. James (1986) points to diverse legal classifications, for example the age at which young people can drink alcohol, earn money, join the armed forces or consent to sexual intercourse to demonstrate how variable, context specific and gendered are the definitions of childhood, youth and adulthood. This variability is particularly evident in relation to gambling

where there are significant differences in minimum age regulations both between different jurisdictions, and in relation to different types of gambling within given jurisdictions (these are outlined in Section 7 Regulatory Frameworks to Protect Young People).

Moreover, the social studies of childhood literature points out legal definitions of appropriate 'child' or 'adult' behaviours are further muddied by increasing recognition that social competence is not necessarily wedded to biological development (Valentine 1999). As such, some children are very competent at making sophisticated decisions about their own lives at a young age and can 'pass' as much older than they actually are both socially and physically; whereas some biological adults never achieve appropriate levels of social competence in managing their own lives. In the light of this conceptual complexity this review uses the terms children and young people to refer to all those aged under 18. However, because of the lack of agreed definition about the relationships between childhood and adulthood many of the studies reported in this review draw on very different age spans. Indeed, the terms youth or young people are commonly employed to refer to those up to the age of 24 (Valentine and Skelton 1998). As such, where the research cited in this review is based on empirical work with particular age groups the age parameters of the studies referred to are clearly highlighted.

Gambling can be broadly defined as betting money on games of chance (National Research Council 1999). The UK *Gambling Act* (2005) describes it more specifically in terms of gaming (i.e. playing a game of chance for a prize); betting and participating in a lottery. It usually involves risk taking and in some cases requires particular knowledge or skills. The majority of gambling is social or recreational, although some people do make a living as professional gamblers. A minority of people who gamble do so in ways which disrupts their personal or family lives. This '*problem gambling*' can include a complex range of behaviours of varying severity. '*Pathological gambling*' has been defined as gambling which is 'characterised by a continuous or periodic loss of control, over gambling, a pre-occupation with gambling and with obtaining money with which to gamble, irrational thinking and a continuation of behaviour despite adverse consequences' (Hardoon and Derevensky 2002: 264, see also Lesieur and Rosenthal 1991, Neal et al. 2005).

In order to identify people who might be defined as problem or pathological gamblers various indices of behaviours and psychological states known as 'screens' have been developed (Fisher 1998). The two most common screening instruments are the South Oaks Gambling

Screen (SOGS) (Lesieur & Blume 1987) and the American Psychological Association's Diagnostic Statistical Manual. In the case of SOGS an individual is defined as a problem gambler if they score five or above in relation to a list of defined questions. With the DSM screening instrument an individual is defined as a problem gambler if they score three or above in relation to its particular list of criteria. This classification and diagnostic tool is frequently updated. The studies cited in this literature review draw on the fourth edition (first published in 2000) of the manual: DSM-IV. It was superseded in May 2013 by the publication of DSM-V. Originally, developed for use with adults it is generally accepted that these screening tools are not necessarily appropriate to use with children and so they have been adapted for young people (Fisher 1992, 2000).

The South Oaks Gambling Screen - Revised for Adolescents (SOGS-RA) is widely used in North America (Winters et al 1993a). This measure has 16 criteria and places particular 'emphasis upon the frequency and behavioural indices of gambling behaviour' (Rossen 2001:4). The Diagnostic Statistical Manual IV- Adapted for Juveniles (DSM-IV-J) consists of a questionnaire with 12 criteria, designed to measure the gambling behaviour of 11-16 year olds over the past year (Fisher 1992). Fisher (1998, 2000) revised this screen further to create a form of scoring (DSM-IV-MR-J) based on nine criteria with four responses choices (never; once or twice; sometimes and often). These standardised measurements of problematic and pathological gambling behaviour are useful because they enable direct comparisons to be made between different social groups and international contexts (Orford et al 2003a/b). However, they must also be treated with a degree of caution because research suggests that these different measurement tools produce different prevalence rates. For example, it is argued that studies which use SOGS-RA tend to estimate the proportion of problem gamblers as higher than those studies employing DSM-IV-J (Derevensky and Gupta 2000, Fröberg 2006) and the significance of gender differences in gambling behaviour also appears to vary depending on which screen is used (Derevensky and Gupta 2000). There are also limitations to using such screening instruments to compare patterns of adult and child gambling because it is hard to assess the extent to which different outcomes may be a product of the differences in the screening instruments used or contexts in which the tests were undertaken (e.g. adolescents commonly complete the survey tools in class or group situations, whereas adults are usually surveyed in individual contexts) rather than actual gambling behaviours (National Research Council 1999). As such, it is widely recognised by leading scholars in the field of gambling studies that there is a need to further develop and refine current screening instruments for adolescents to establish an agreed 'gold standard' criteria to define children's problem gambling (e.g. Derevensky, Gupta and Winters 2003, Derevensky and Gupta 2006, Volberg 2010).

Indeed, work within the field of the social studies of childhood suggests that there are broader limitations to using any survey tools with children given that these are often 'adultist' in their design and are considered 'boring' by young people who may be reluctant to fill them in properly or reliably (Valentine 1999). In particular, survey tools are not very sensitive to capturing the complexities of peer group relations which play such a powerful role in young people's everyday lives, nor are they very reliable at capturing behaviours which young people know to be illegal and may be reluctant to commit to paper. Children with low levels of educational attainment, or whose first language is not English, may also self-exclude themselves from research involving surveys that require a significant degree of literacy. There is therefore recognition of the need to draw on a wider range of evidence that embraces ethnographic and child-centred methods in order to capture children's own experiences and views of their lifeworlds. Indeed, there is a rich vein of in-depth qualitative work with young people within the field of gambling studies (e.g. Griffiths 1995, 2002). Rather, than relying exclusively on evidence from large-scale studies employing standard screening instruments this review also includes evidence from qualitative research, notwithstanding the fact that it is based on small sample sizes recruited through subjective sampling techniques.

3. Patterns of Young People's Gambling Behaviours

3.1 Traditional Forms of Off-line Gambling

Over nearly 20 years prevalence studies of children and young people's gambling in North America and Australia have consistently found that between 60 to 90 per cent report having gambled in the past year (Fisher 1999, McGowan et al. 2000, Poulin 2000, Welte et al. 2008, Splevins et al. 2010, Yip et al. 2011). The figures for Great Britain and Germany are slightly lower with prevalence studies suggesting that the percentage of young people who have gambled in the past year ranges between 54 and 75 per cent (Volberg et al. 2010). While the most recent *Report on Gambling Behaviour in England and Scotland* identified that only 50 per cent of 16-24 year olds had participated in a form of gambling (excluding the National Lottery) over the past year (Wardle et al. 2014). According to the latest prevalence survey of underage gambling in England and Wales (based on a representative sample of 2275 11-15 year olds attending maintained schools) 17 per cent of those aged 11-15 reported gambling with their own money in the previous week (Ipsos MORI 2015). This rate of underage gambling is consistent

with that recorded in the 2012 Ipsos MORI Young People's Omnibus and represents a decrease in children's overall participation rates since 2007 (Ipsos MORI 2015). Likewise, the 2015 Omnibus identified a fall in the number of children who had bought a National Lottery ticket or scratchcard in the past week, with just five per cent of respondents to the survey stating that they had spent their own money in this way (Ipsos MORI 2015).

Popular off-line forms of gambling by young people in North America include betting on games of skill, particularly cards (Gerstein et al. 1999, Welte et al. 2009) and sports pools and related wagering on horses/dogs; dice and board games played with family and friends (often in the private space of the home); as well as the lottery (and associated products) and bingo (Jacobs 2000). In addition, young people gamble in arcades, on slot machines and table games in casinos, and on the internet (Volberg et al. 2010).

In Australia the most popular activities are also lotteries and lottery products (e.g. scratch cards) card games as well as scratch cards, and sports betting (Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005a/b, Volberg et al, 2010). In the UK fruit machines (category D) – which are legal for children to play – have been popular for several decades – particularly in pubs and amusement arcades (Moran 1987, Griffiths 1990a/b/c, 1991, 1995, 2009, Ipsos MORI 2015) and playing the lottery, and associated products, are also a common (albeit declining) form of gambling (Ipsos MORI 2009, 2011, 2013, 2015). Likewise, fruit machines are the most popular game for young people in Norway where they are readily accessible in public places (such shopping centres as well as restaurants and amusement arcades) despite an age limit of 18. In Sweden, lottery games and slot machines are the favoured form of gambling for young people, although as in Norway fruit machines are also frequently played despite the same age ban also applying (Fröberg 2006). Fröberg (2006) suggests that Norwegian young people appear to gamble slightly more frequently, regularly and for larger sums of money young people in Sweden.

Children's high levels of gambling have been related to the accessibility/availability of gaming machines (e.g. Fisher 1993a, Griffiths 1997a/b, Griffiths 2009) - used here to refer to a wide range of amusement equipment that has different names (such as slots, fruit machines, poker machines and video gaming machines) in different international contexts. In the UK, gaming machines have been commonly located in entertainment and leisure spaces frequented by families and children and young people (e.g. amusement arcades, fast food outlets, cafes, and public houses). Similar provision is also available in other international contexts. In Las Vegas,

US, for example, Casino Hotels cater for all ages, and have arcade games where children can gamble with tokens to win toys as prizes.

In the UK gambling venues such as arcades, as well as being places that young people visit as part of family-oriented entertainment, also attract young people individually and in groups. The evidence is not very clear however, as to whether the opportunity to gamble attracts young people to gambling settings; or whether gambling venues merely provide a convenient and congenial place for young people to gather because of the lack of alternative spaces available to them. The evidence from the social studies of childhood literature suggests that young people have little privacy relative to adults. Both homes and schools are spaces that are constituted through sets of parental/adult rules and regulations which often channel children into organised activities, and are spaces within which young people commonly have limited autonomy. Beyond the home, there is little public (as opposed to private) provision of facilities for young people in UK towns and cities. Moreover, teenagers in particular, commonly want to participate in adultlike activities rather than be corralled with young children in specialist environments. Public space is therefore an important arena for young people wanting to escape adult surveillance and to define their own identities (Valentine 2004). However, the redevelopment and gentrification of many urban areas has resulted in 'undesirable others', including young people, bring priced out or driven out of many commercial, retail and leisure complexes by private security industries (including security personnel and closed circuit television surveillance). As such, amusement arcades have provided particularly important spaces (warm, dry, lively décor and music) for young people to meet with friends and have fun free from adult supervision, where gambling can result from the coincidence of location rather representing a specific motivation for being there.

The lack of availability of legal gaming machines for under 18s in other countries does not necessary mean however, that adolescents are unable to access these forms of gambling. Rather the evidence of prevalence studies in Australia, Canada, Norway, and US shows that young people still manage to access gaming machines, and even in some rare cases casinos - considered to be the most regulated gambling space (though young people tend to only migrate towards the most age-restricted forms of gambling near the age where they would be legally able to participate) - despite age restrictions (Smeaton et al. 2004, Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005a/b, Adlaf et al.2006, Volberg et al. 2010). Likewise, despite Government guidelines in the UK which define 16 as the minimum age at which young people can legally purchase a scratchcard, research shows that lottery products are still highly accessible to young

people (Ipsos MORI 2011, 2013, 2015), although the number of children gambling underage in this way is falling (Ipsos MORI 2015). Research in Canada has also found that retailers fail to comply with lottery laws and sell tickets to those underage (St Pierre et al. 2011). Older research with young people, has identified that despite being aware of the legal age limits on the purchase of lottery tickets, they nonetheless report going to stores specifically just to buy them, and encountering few, if any problems, when doing so (Felsher et al 2004, Ipsos MORI 2011). This is both because young people are often able to 'pass' as older than they actually are, making the law hard to enforce; and because some retailers/entertainment complex managers are lax, or even deliberately turn a blind eye, to breaches of the law by young people (See also Section 8: Regulator Frameworks to Protect Young People). Indeed, many young people flout the law because they believe there should be no age restrictions on the lottery (Griffiths 2000). Here, there are obvious parallels with public concerns about the sale of alcohol to young people under-age.

3.2 On-line Gambling and Social Gaming

Over the last 20 years the emergence of the internet has provided a new potentially omnipresent opportunity (e.g. at home, school or work) for people to gamble in privacy and with anonymity without the stigma attached to entering off-line gambling venues, such as a betting shop (Griffiths 1996, 2001a, 2003, Griffiths and Wood 2000, Griffiths and Parke 2002, Derevensky and Gupta 2007, King, Delfabbro and Griffiths 2010a, King, Delfabbro and Griffiths 2012, Shead et al. 2012). Indeed online gambling opportunities are now available through multiple platforms (e.g. desk top computers, laptops, tablets and smart phones): platforms which are readily accessible to most young people as the rapid development of these technologies has produced a steep reduction in their price (Wong 2010, McBride and Derevensky 2012). Moreover, gambling applications have also emerged within other applications such as social networking sites and gaming sites, as a consequence drawing those who were not initially online with the intention of gambling into doing so (see also below) (Floros et al 2013). Griffiths (2004) and Griffiths, Wardle et al. (2008) have observed the similarities between interactive television quizzes to lottery-style gambling experiences, and of penny auctions to internet gambling raising concerns that such non-gambling leisure activities might normalise gambling behaviours. This has led to speculation that the internet may exacerbate young people's ability to access gambling opportunities both legally and illegally given that young people - the so-called 'net generation' - use the internet more than any other age group.

In many households, children have higher levels of ICT competence than their parents giving them relative freedom to use the internet unsupervised. As a disembodied technology, in the absence of adequate age verification, young people are more readily able to 'pass' as adults online than in off-line gambling venues. Young people's ability to illegal access on-line gambling activities is further facilitated by the fact that nearly many young people aged 11-18 are debit card holders – the usual means for setting up an on-line account (Griffiths and Wood 2000, Wong 2010); and that young people can also gamble using pre-paid debit cards which are issued more easily and with fewer controls than credit cards (Wong 2010).

Internet gambling currently still makes up a relatively small proportion of gambling in UK but is growing rapidly. Surveys of young people's gambling carried out for the National Lottery Commission and the Gambling Commission in Great Britain have reported online gambling among a small minority of children and adolescents. In the first study, a national survey of 8017 young people aged 12-15 carried out by MORI in collaboration with Griffiths and Wood (2007) found evidence that young people can, and are, gambling on-line illegally. Of the respondents, 29 per cent claimed to have played free demonstration games on-line with 18 per cent claiming that the system allowed them to register on-line despite security setting by operators designed to prevent illegal underage participation. Indeed, there was also evidence of parental consent helping young people to access games on-line. The survey also found that problem gamblers (defined by DSM-IV-MR-J screen) were more likely to have played the national lottery game on the internet than social gamblers (Griffiths and Wood 2007). A survey of 11 to 16 year olds (n=2595) in England and Wales for the National Lottery Commission in 2013 found that 2 percent of the respondents had played National Lottery games online underage using a parent's account with permission and one percent had done so without permission; 13 per cent had played free or practice gambling games online (Ipsos MORI 2013).

Likewise, in North America and Nordic countries research has also found evidence that young people are able to engage in on-line gambling underage despite legal age restrictions. In 2006 a study in Nova Scotia, Canada, employing an online survey of 499 young people aged 15-20 (the data was weighted to reflect Statistics Canada population data for age and gender), and a qualitative on-line methodology (password protected message board, to foster discussion, debate and reflection) involving 37 young people aged 13-20 found higher levels of self-reported on-line gambling by young people than adults. Of the sample 19 percent of the 15-17 year olds reported gambling on line compared with only 2 percent of adults (Meerkamper 2006). In 2009 a

much larger survey by (Brunelle et al. 2009 – cited in Griffiths and Parke 2010) of 1,876 Canadian high school students aged 14 to 18 years old found that 8 per cent of the respondents had gambled on the internet in the preceding 12 months – although figures were much higher for young men (13 per cent) compared to young women (3 per cent). These findings bear strong similarities to results from two separate studies of undergraduates: one in Canada, and the other in the United States. An off-line questionnaire about internet gambling and risk taking completed by 465 undergraduates at two anonymous urban universities in Canada found that 8 per cent of the respondents had gambled for money on the internet in the past year, with significantly higher rates of gambling reported by male students (11.8 per cent) than female students (0.6 per cent) (McBride and Derevensky 2012). Likewise, an online survey of 909 students at the University of California–Los Angeles identified that 8.1 per cent had gambled for money on the internet at least once in their lifetime, and 5.7 per cent had done so within the previous 12 months. Again male students were much more likely to report gambling online than their female counterparts (Shead et al. 2012).

The Nordic countries have some of the highest rates of gambling in Europe which has been attributed to the faster penetration of the internet in this region than elsewhere (Floros et al. 2013). This is evident in relation to studies of children and young people with for example, one Danish study reporting that 34 per cent of those surveyed gambled on line (Kristiansen and Frederiksen 2008) and an Icelandic survey of young people (n=1537) aged 13 to 18 reporting a comparable figure of 24.3 per cent (Olason et al. 2011). Gendered patterns similar to those identified in North American studies were also evident with boys more likely to gamble on the internet than girls.

While levels of young people's participation in online gambling has been lower than that recorded for their participation in off-line gambling activities (such as lottery games, scratchcards, slot machines, cards and so on) Volberg et al (2010) speculate that young people's propensity to gamble on the internet may increase over time. This is not only because young people will become more familiar with online technologies but also because of the growth of video gaming technologies which share similarities with software and activities on gambling websites may increase young people's interest in, and familiarity with, gambling (Griffiths and Wood 2000, Wood et al 2004, Griffiths, Wardle et al. 2009, King, Delfabbro, and Griffiths 2010b). For example, both gaming and gambling include colourful graphics and interesting audio features (Temcheff, St.Pierre and Derevensky 2011); they share structural characteristics de-

signed to prolong play (Parke and Griffiths 2006, Griffiths 2011, King, Delfabbro and Griffiths 2011); and both fulfil similar emotional needs such as competitiveness, escapism, and a release from stress or boredom (Griffiths and Wood 2000, Hellstrom et al. 2012).

Griffiths, Wardle et al. (2009) identify a diverse range of what they term 'gambling like' activities which are increasingly apparent on smartphone devices, social networking sites as well as in video gaming technologies. These simulate the experience of gambling by allowing players to take part in gambling activities without spending any money, with rewards in the form of achievement points and 'trophies' (King, Delfabbro and Griffiths 2010a). Owens (2010) for example, found that a simple keyword search for gambling applications on Facebook revealed over 350 poker apps, 120 casino betting apps, 80 slot machines apps, and 20 sports-betting apps. Likewise, a wide range of casino, poker and sports betting applications were available for the Apple iPhone (Owens 2010). Griffiths (2010a) highlights the significance of these 'gambling like' opportunities observing that the Zynga Poker application on Facebook had at the time of writing in excess of 36 million active monthly users. An Ipsos MORI (2015) study of the prevalence of underage gambling in England and Wales found that 11 per cent of survey respondents (n=2275) aged 11 to 15 reported that they had played online gambling-style games at some point, and a third of these stated that they had done so within the past week. The concern is that 'gambling-like' activities may increase children's exposure to advertising for gambling products (Gainsbury, Russell et al. 2015), foster their confidence in their ability to win (Bednarz et al 2013, Bramley and Gainsbury 2015) and give them an illusion of control that might motivate their involvement in gambling (Derevensky, Gainsbury et al. 2013), as well as further normalising gambling as a fun activity which is free of risk (Griffiths 2010a, Parke et al. 2013).

In a review of the relationship between gaming and gambling Gainsbury, King, Abarbanel et al (2015) conclude that products in the gaming and gambling industries are converging: gambling products are including gaming themes; gambling themes are being integrated into games; and operators are encouraging customers to engage in both types of activity. Likewise, gaming and gambling operators are also converging. As a result, they have developed a typology of the features of both gaming and gambling in order to identify their distinctive and overlapping characteristics. They define gaming by its: interactivity, skill-based play and the presence of contextual indicators of progression and success; and gambling by its betting and wagering components, chance-based outcomes and elements of monetisation (i.e. risk and pay outs)

(Gainsbury King, Abarbanel et al 2015). Identifying many activities which represent a blurring of gaming and gambling, they conclude that it may be appropriate to consider some hybrid or converging activities according to specific features due to their complexity.

Such trends are particularly significant given that prevalence studies indicate that over 50 per cent of all young people play video games on a weekly basis (e.g. Desai et al. 2010, Rehbein et al. 2010), with boys in particular having a high propensity to play video games to excess (King, Delfabbro, and Griffiths 2012). Yet, no regulation has been specifically developed for gambling themed games. In the British context, demonstration games and gambling-like activities within video games are not considered to be covered by the legal definition of gambling in the *Gambling Act* because they do not offer any direct monetary prizes and do not provide a means to cash out any winnings, or to withdraw any payments that have been made towards acquiring or subscribing to the game (Purewal, 2012). This means that they are not subject to the rigorous age-verification regime that applies to gambling, falling instead under the remit of regulations for video games and online gaming. However, some companies such as Google and Apple are looking at self-regulation.

The Ipsos MORI (2009) survey for the Gambling Commission (described above) found that over a quarter of the children had played free or practice modes of 'real' gambling in the preceding week and when a similar survey was conducted in 2015 a third of children reported that they had played online gambling-style games in the previous week. Using statistical modelling to further investigate the 2009 data Forrest, McHale and Parke (2009) found that playing in money-free mode was the most important predictor of whether a young person had gambled for money and one of the most significant predictors of problem gambling. A similar pattern was evident in the data collected by the 2011 Ipsos MORI survey. Over half (51 per cent) of the children responding to the survey who had played free online trial gambling games in the preceding week had also gambled for 'real' money, compared with around one fifth (18 per cent) of those who had not engaged in such activities. The Report (Ipsos MORI 2011) recommended as a consequence that children's access to free trial gambling games needs to be monitored by regulators.

Several other studies have identified a correlation between demonstration games and gambling (King, Delfabbro and Griffiths 2010a, Forrest and McHale, 2012), and social games and gambling (Kim et al. 2014) raising potential concerns about the implications of these

associations for the protection of minors from gambling related harms (Derevensky, Gainsbury et al. 2013, Griffiths 2010a, Griffiths 2011, Parke et al. 2013) (for further discussion see Section 8 Regulatory Frameworks to Protect Young People and Section 9 The Prevention and Treatment of Problem Gambling). Kim et al. (2014), for example, found that a large proportion of those who begin as social gamers move on to gamble for money within six months of starting to play on social sites.

However, other research has indicated that such associations may only be coincidental (Bednarz et al. 2013, Gainsbury, King, Delfabbro et al. 2015), because those who are attracted to free gambling games on gambling websites may already be predisposed to gambling (Floros et al. 2013) and that, despite similarities, social gaming and gambling for money may attract different types of players (Gainsbury, Hing et al. 2014). Moreover, Gainsbury, Hing et al. (2014) argue that social gambling may actually discourage young people from being tempted to gamble for real money. One qualitative study conducted in schools in London and Kent, UK found significant differences (alongside some similarities) in pupils' (aged 14 to 19) motivations to play and forms and intensity of engagement with monetary and non-monetary forms of gambling, and the emotions associated with these activities (Carran and Griffiths 2015). The pupils taking part in focus groups were clearly able to differentiate between gambling and gambling-like activities, and there was no automatic translation of interest from one to the other, with only limited evidence found of demonstration games being used as training for future monetary gambling.

Given that the existing empirical evidence about the relationships between 'gambling-like' activities and 'real' gambling is relatively limited in scope/scale and inconclusive (King, Ejova and Delfabbro 2012, Parke et al., 2013, Gainsbury, King, Abarbanel et al 2015) there is a clear need for more research to investigate how young people experience monetary and non-monetary gambling, and whether they are sufficiently aware of the differences and associated risks. This is necessary to inform legislators and policy-makers' considerations about whether gambling-like activities are adequately regulated to protect minors from gambling-related harm (Harris and Hagan 2012).

4. The Prevalence of Children and Young People's Problem Gambling: evidence from UK and international research

An extensive international evidence base in relation to the prevalence of problem and pathological gambling among young people has developed over several decades (e.g. Gupta

and Derevensky 1998a, Jacobs 2000, Gillespie et al. 2007a/b, Welte et al. 2008, Blinn-Pike et al. 2010, Volberg et al. 2010, Wardle et al. 2014). Broadly, the consensus is that notwithstanding some variation (both higher and lower) in specific individual studies the typical rate of youth problem gambling in a range of international jurisdictions is around 3-5 per cent (e.g. Shaffer & Korn, 2002, Delfabrro and Thrupp 2003, Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005a/b Fröberg 2006, Delfabbro and King 2011, Purdie et al. 2011, Rossen et al. 2013).

Some of the variations between studies may be attributable to methodological issues (e.g. Volberg et al 2010 observe that surveys conducted by phone tend to produce lower prevalence rates than those completed in classrooms) and the complexities of comparing studies with very different sample sizes and which are conducted in very different geographical contexts even with one national context (e.g. rural versus urban areas). This is demonstrated, for example by a set of Australian studies. A study of 926 young people aged 11-19 attending State, independent and Catholic schools in the Australian Capital Territory found that 70 per cent of the respondents had gambled within the last 12 months and 10 per cent gambled at least weekly. Approximately, 4 per cent of the respondents were classified as problem gamblers (using the DSM-IV-J screening tool) (Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005a). A similar study of 252 students aged 12–18 years, attending four private schools in the Eastern suburbs of Sydney five years later recorded a higher prevalence rate of 6.7 per cent (using the DSM-IV-MR-J screen) (Splevins et al 2010). The lowest prevalence rate of problem gambling (DSM-IV-MR-J) recorded in Australia todate was reported in a 2011 survey of 1107 young people aged 14 to 18 in the Northern Territory, sampled from two metropolitan high schools in Darwin and one high school in Humpty Doo. This found about half (50.8 per cent) of the respondents said they had gambled at least once in the previous year, 6.3 per cent stated they gambled weekly but only 0.2 per cent were classified as pathological gamblers (Delfabbro and King 2011).

In an international review of youth gambling prevalence surveys carried out over three time periods: 1984-89, 1990-99, and 2000-09 in North America, Europe and Oceania, Volberg et al. (2010) concluded (notwithstanding the methodological difficulties of comparing individual studies) that repeat studies show that since the early 1990s that adolescents' participation in gambling and rates of problem gambling have remained stable or declined in most of the jurisdictions considered by their study. For example, in the UK repeat studies of underage gambling (under 16s) on the National Lottery have recorded a drop in the percentage of those classified as problem gambles (all using DSM-IV-MR-J screen) from 5.4 per cent in 1999

(Ashworth and Doyle 1999), to 3.5 per cent in 2006 (MORI 2006), to 1.9 per cent in 2009 (Ipsos MORI 2009) and to 0.6 per cent by 2015 (Ipsos MORI 2015).

Specifically, the 2009 survey conducted by Ipsos MORI for the National Lottery Commission with children aged 11 to 15 from 201 schools (n=8958) found that the prevalence of problem gambling (DSM-IV-MR-J) in this age group was 1.9 per cent, compared with 0.6-0.9 per cent in most of the comparable adult surveys at that time (Forrest and McHale 2012). Child income emerged as a key predictor of gambling and problem gambling. The more money a child had, the more likely he or she was to gamble. Forrest and McHale's (2012) analysis predicted that an increase from nearly £14 to just over £25 per week would increase the overall problem gambling risk for the baseline subject by more than 50 per cent. However, in 2015 the Ipsos MORI Omnibus (for the National Lottery Commission) found that only 0.6 per cent of the children who responded to the survey were classified as problem gamblers (DSM-IV-MR-J), suggesting that the incidence of problem gambling amongst children had fallen to the same levels as that recorded amongst adults (Ipsos MORI 2015). A survey of young people's gambling in England and Scotland (Wardle, Seabury et al. 2014) recorded a higher prevalence of problem gambling amongst those aged 16 to 24, with 1.2 per cent in this age group classified as problem gamblers (DSM-IV). A much higher rate of problem gambling was also observed for young men (2.1 per cent) compared to young women (0.3 per cent).

Research from a number of different national contexts has identified that rates of problem gambling amongst young people may be higher among those who gamble on the internet compared with those who only gamble offline (e.g. Kristiansen and Frederiksen 2008, Griffiths, Wardle et al. 2009, Wood and Williams 2009, Derevensky 2011, Olason et al. 2011, Potenza et al. 2011, McBride and Derevensky 2012, Shead, Derevensky, Fong and Gupta 2012). For example a survey (n=1,537) of Icelandic teenagers (aged 13 to 18) found that over half had gambled at least once in the past 12 months. Based on the DSM-IV-MR-J criteria 2.2 per cent were classified as problem gamblers, with internet gamblers more likely to be defined as problem gamblers (7.7 per cent) than non-Internet gamblers (1.1 per cent) (Olason et al. 2011). Similar results were evident in an offline survey conducted in two urban Canadian universities (McBride and Derevensky 2012). Again higher rates of problem gambling (using DSM-IV criteria) were found amongst students who had gambled on the internet, than those who had not. Those who had gambled online also had a greater risk-taking motivation than those who had not gambled in this way. McBride and Derevensky (2012) conclude that gambling on the internet

may be harmful for: young men, those with high risk-approach motivation, and those with preexisting problem gambling behaviours.

Such patterns have led to speculation about whether problem gamblers are more susceptible or vulnerable to gambling online because of the unique opportunities it affords (e.g.to gamble any time, anywhere); or whether teenage problem gamblers merely add the internet to a pre-existing repertoire of gambling behaviours (Forrest, McHale and Parke 2009, Wood & Williams 2009). Griffiths and Parke (2010) urge caution in relation to attempts to define the role of internet gambling in creating young problem gamblers. However, in a review of current evidence they suggest that the opportunity to gamble online without money is critical in introducing young people to the principles and excitement of gambling - with between a third and a quarter of young people reporting they have gambled in this way. Given young people's proficiency in using information and communication technologies, research to explore further the role of internet gambling in terms of creating new forms of gambling-related harm and/or exacerbating existing harms needs to be made an urgent priority (Griffiths and Parke 2010).

In all of the countries considered in this review, problem gambling is inversely related to age with a higher prevalence of gambling amongst young people. For example, Gupta and Derevensky's (1998a) study of 817 high school students (aged 12-17) in Montreal region of Canada found that pathological gambling (using the screening instrument DSM-IV-J) was higher in grade 7 (pupils aged 12-13) than grade 11 (pupils aged 16-17). This is consistent with the findings of other studies (e.g. Nowak & Aloe, 2013). Levels of problem gambling tend to be between 2 to 4 times higher (i.e. 1 to 5 per cent) among young people than adults (Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005b, Welte et al. 2008, Blinn-Pike et al. 2010, Volberg et al. 2010, Purdie et al 2011, Forrest and McHale 2012, Wardle, Seabury et al. 2014).

A significant body of research has suggested that the younger the age at which problem gambling develops the greater will be the consequences and severity of gambling in later life (Fisher 1993a/b, Shead, Derevensky and Gupta 2010, Mentzoni et al. 2012, Derevensky 2012). Other commentators have argued however that young people may grow out of gambling problems as they get older (Tepperman 2009) or that prevention programmes (see Section 9 Prevention and Treatment of Problem Gambling), by reducing risk factors (e.g. peer environmental risks) and fostering compensatory factors (e.g. social bonding), may produce lower levels of problem gambling (Lussier et al. 2014) and so it might be reasonable to conclude

that levels of young people's gambling should not be considered a cause of undue concern. (However, it is important to note that they may experience long-term consequences of their gambling behaviour, for example as a result of dropping out school). Others still argue that this pattern can be interpreted in different ways and may have significant implications for the wellbeing of young people as they move into adulthood (Volberg et al. 2010). For example, exposure to gambling opportunities may vary with age such that contemporary young people are being exposed to new gambling opportunities compared to previous generations and as a consequence this has yet to materialise in higher adult prevalence rates (Lepper 2005); or the early onset of gambling problems may be leading to treatment that might account for the decline in the number of problem gamblers by age. Indeed, there is some evidence that motivations for, and perceived benefits of gambling change as people get older: younger adults (those aged18-24) for example are more likely to see gambling as an excuse to socialise, and escape boredom than older adult age groups (25-34) and are more likely to perceive stress as a more significant factor in gambling than older people (Wiebe, Single and Falkowski-Ham 2001). Moreover, different measures of problem gambling as a result of the different screening instruments used with children and adults (see Section 1 – Definitions above) may mean that in effect such comparative studies are not truly comparative because they are measuring different things (Lepper 2005).

To-date relatively few longitudinal studies have been undertaken to explore whether gambling under age increases the likelihood of gambling in adulthood. The longest running longitudinal time-series analysis of young people's gambling – which has tracked a sample of young people in Minnesota, US since 1992 – has identified a pattern of declining interest in gambling despite the proliferation of opportunities to do so which have emerged in this period. Stinchfield (2011) speculates that gambling may be replaced by other "risky" activities as young people make the transition to adulthood or may become a less salient interest as a consequence of growing maturity. Likewise, a study to investigate problem gambling severity trajectories in a sample of young adults in Manitoba Canada, using latent growth curve modelling of four wave longitudinal data, found the risk of problem gambling declined over time, suggesting that targeted prevention campaigns may be effective (Edgerton et al. 2015). An Australian study which followed 578 young people, collecting data from them annually between the ages of 15 and 18, found considerable individual variability in patterns of gambling during the transition to adulthood. Only 1 in 4 of those who gambled at the age of 15 went on to gamble every year and very few of participants continued to engage in the same specific gambling activities from year to

year (Delfabbro, Winefield and Anderson 2009). Likewise, a four-wave longitudinal study in South Australia that has followed a sample of 256 young people, aged 16 to 18 in 2005 through to the age of 20-21 found that the participants showed little stability in their gambling. Rates of participation in gambling increased as young people made the transition to adulthood and then generally stabilised. Relatively few of those sampled gambled on the same activities consistently over time. In this sense, the pattern of young people's gambling in early adulthood (at 20-21) was not generally aligned with their gambling in their teenage years (Delfabbro, King and Griffiths 2014).

The evidence of longitudinal research therefore appears to show that those who gamble underage do grow out of their participation in this activity. However, given this is a relatively small body of work and its findings are inconsistent with the complex set of findings from nonlongitudinal studies of gambling at different ages (described above) it suggests that further longitudinal research is needed to be confident of the reliability of the pattern reported here.

Young people often fail to recognise that they have a problem (Hardoon, Derevensky and Gupta 2003, Splevins et al. 2010). Even where young people have some degree of self- recognition, their problem gambling is not necessarily visible however, because they often do not seek help from formal agencies for their problems because of shame, fear they will be denied help, or because their problem gambling can be hidden within, or by, the family (Valentine and Hughes 2010, 2012) (See also Section 9. The Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling . Although, it important to recognise that contrary to this evidence base the Australian study (described above) which tracked 578 young people from age 15 into early adulthood found that early exposure to gambling – where controlled, for example through parental supervision - may actually contribute to young people developing resilience to becoming problem gamblers because they learn the futility of games of chance (Delfabbro, Winefield and Anderson 2009).

Much less is known however, about why some individuals become problem gamblers while for others gambling remains a casual activity without harmful consequences (Derevensky and Gupta 2004a/b). There is no universally agreed model or understanding of addiction within gambling studies, though Jacobs' (1986) General Theory of Addictions and Blaszczynski and Nower's (2002, see also Nower and Blaszczynski 2004) Pathways Model are two different frameworks that attempt to explain the development of problem gambling and which are

commonly drawn on within the field (see for example Gupta and Derevensky 1998a, Wood and Griffiths 2007a).

Traditionally, addiction has been understood through a medical model as a disease in which an activity (such as gambling) or a substance (such as alcohol or drugs) is understood to produce a compulsion beyond an individual's self-control. Here, young people are viewed as psychological subjects driven to make particular behavioural choices by specific internal drivers including addictive pathways in the limbic system, a failure of impulse control or an attraction to high risk behaviour associated with adolescent brain development (e.g. Slutske et al. 2005, Betancourt et al. 2012, Hood and Park 2015, Edgerton et al. 2015). A Web of Science survey of the literature on young people and gambling found that of 177 outputs, 72 per cent drew on such psychological, psychiatric or neuroscientific explanations for young people's gambling (Wilson and Ross 2011). This way of thinking has been contested by more 'social' understandings of 'addiction' which have sought to understand compulsive, or problematic behaviour in terms of the complex relationships between the characteristics of individuals, the nature of particular 'addictive' behaviours and the environment in which these activities occurs rather than through a clinical lens (e.g. Blinn-Pike et al. 2010, Barmaki 2010). Such conceptualisations of addiction allow for a wider spectrum of addictive behaviour and to recognise that individuals may follow pathways in, and out, of problematic behaviour over periods of time.

Blaszczynski and Nower's (2002) pathway model for adults (later adapted in relation to young people - Nower and Blaszczynski 2004), recognised that problem and pathological gamblers are not a homogeneous group. Rather they integrated empirical and clinical knowledge concerning the biological, development of personality, cognitive, learning theory and environmental factors associated with problem gambling into a coherent framework. This theorised three different pathways to gambling problems – one of which is predicated on biological or neurological components. Subsequent studies have sought to test this theoretical framework empirically in an attempt to better understand different subtypes of pathological gamblers. A study by Faregh and Derevensky (2011a) has suggested that there may be a gendered divergence in the pathways that young gamblers negotiate according to the nature of their gambling behaviours. They argue that vulnerability to developing gambling problems among young male and female gamblers with prior addictions is more likely to involve behaviours with physiological or neuroadaptive components than antisocial elements. Moreover, they suggest that this vulnerability is particularly acute for young female gamblers who are substance-dependent

where the development of tolerance (i.e. the positive effects are reduced with repeated exposure) plays a key role. Faregh and Derevensky (2011a) conclude by arguing that treatment programmes need to address the specificity of young people's individual gambling pathologies, while also arguing that more research is needed to investigate biological markers for gambling pathology. Other studies have also sought to test empirically the effectiveness of Nower and Blaszczynski's (2004) framework for understanding and differentiating among subtypes of problem and pathological young gamblers. Notably, a study by Gupta, Nower et al. (2013) identified five distinct subtypes of young problem gamblers, three of which align with those proposed by Nower and Blaszczynski (2004): those who do not demonstrate any psychopathology (pathway 1); those who are characterized by past trauma, depression, selfhatred, family conflict, and suicidal tendencies (pathway 2); and those who are mainly antisocial and impulsive (pathway 3). In addition, Gupta, Nower et al. identified a 'depression only' subtype and a subtype characterised by internalizing and externalizing symptoms. Their work further deviated from the Pathways Model with its finding that Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (inattentive) characteristics were found to be present across four of the five classes leading them to conclude that ADHD/inattentiveness appears to be a common risk or contributing factor in problem gambling among young people.

Pathological and problem gambling by young people has been associated with a higher incidence of psychological and psychosocial concerns including risk-taking (Slutske et al. 2005), and impulsivity (Nower et al. 2004, Slutske et al. 2005, Dussault et al. 2011, Vitaro and Wanner 2011, Shenessa et al. 2011) leading to research to examine whether neurological deficits in particular areas of the brain may explain these patterns of behaviour. Research with adult pathological gamblers has identified apparent deficits in executive cognitive functions which are essential for cognitive and emotional self-regulation such as the working memory, impulse control and reward processing. These are functions located in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) an area of the brain which develops after birth over an extended period throughout childhood becoming increasingly refined in later adolescence. This has led to speculation that high levels of risky behaviour displayed by teenagers may be a product of immature prefrontal executive function (Romer et al. 2009, 2011) Betancourt et al. (2012) undertook a longitudinal study with a sample of children (between ages of 10 and 15) in order to investigate the relationships between executive cognitive functions and trajectories of gambling/problem gambling. They identified two groups: early gamblers and late gamblers - who were similar in terms of socioeconomic status, ethnicity, parents' marital status and level of monitoring, The early gamblers

were more likely to be male, to demonstrate higher levels of impulsive behaviour and to have a higher incidence of problem behaviours and drug use yet showed similar levels of executive cognitive function compared to late gamblers.

Other research has hypothesized that as well as problem gambling Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) may also be due to neurological deficits in the same areas of the brain responsible for impulse control. In a study of the relationship between impulsivity and gambling Derevensky, Pratt et al. (2007) found that young people who reported problem gambling behaviours were more likely to exhibit a greater number of ADHD symptoms (likewise depression, substance abuse, and suicidal tendencies also commonly correlate with problem gambling and ADHD). In a subsequent study involving a survey of 1,130 young people aged 12 to 19 from six English speaking high schools in Canada Faregh and Derevensky (2011b) found that those who screened positive for ADHD were significantly more likely to engage in gambling and develop gambling problems than those who did not. They also identified an association between emotional problems, a depressive affect and gambling severity, highlighting in their conclusion the clinical importance of looking at subtypes of ADHD amongst young gamblers (Faregh and Derevensky 2011b). Similar findings have been produced in US studies. For example, research drawing upon a longitudinal study (Fuentes et al. 2006) in which children in elementary schools (aged 7 to 11) were screened for disruptive behaviour, impulsiveness and executive functioning and then tracked into early young adulthood (now aged 18 to 24) known as the Minnesota Competence Enhancement Program, found that participants who had ADHD symptoms that had persisted into early adulthood exhibited more severe problem gambling than those without ADHD or with non-persistent ADHD (Breyer et al. 2009). Likewise, US research drawing on data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (n=6145) found that young people with symptoms consistent with Hyperactive-Impulsive type ADHD in childhood were significantly more likely than other study participants to report participation in multiple forms of gambling as young adults and major losses in the past year. Such findings reinforce the value of longitudinal data and highlight the need for gambling prevention and harm minimisation interventions to target children with ADHD (Clark et al. 2013) (see also Section 9 The Prevention and Treatment of Problem Gambling).

Without exception all of the gambling studies reviewed have found that boys start gambling earlier than girls and gamble more often, and are more at risk of becoming problem gamblers than girls (Fröberg 2006, Johansson et al. 2009, Currie et al. 2011, Splevins et al. 2010, Forrest

and McHale 2012, Scholes-Balog 2014, Ipsos MORI 2015, Simmons et al. 2016). Boys are also less likely to consider gambling frequently to be a risky activity and are more likely to have confidence in their own gambling skills than girls (Kristiansen, Jensen and Trabjerg 2014). This gendered pattern is evident even into early adulthood – for example, a study (n=7,517) of U.S. college student-athletes found that male respondents were more likely to participate in gambling and to have gambling problems than their female counterparts (St-Pierre, Temcheff et al, 2014). Jacobs (2004) suggests that the ratio of boys to girls with severe gambling problems is in the range of 3-1 and 5-1. To take one form of gambling as an illustration - slot machines -- the evidence of Griffiths and Wood's (2000) research is that very few young women have gambling problems in relation to this activity. When young women do become problem gamblers there is some evidence to suggest that this is motivated by a desire to escape personal problems; whereas young men are more likely to explain their behaviour in terms of a desire to win, chase losses or in terms of competition (Grant and Kim 2002, Ellenbogen et al. 2007). Other research has suggested that differences in personality factors (in terms of openness and agreeableness) between young men and women may also account for gender differences in gambling behaviours (Buckle et al. 2013).

Further evidence of the gendered nature of problem gambling is provided by studies of adult problem gamblers which suggest that women pathological gamblers are more likely to have emotional problems as a result of relationship difficulties, loneliness, depression or history of physical abuse; whereas men are more likely to have issues around sensation seeking, impulse control, to have a history of heavy drinking or alcoholism (Shead, Derevensky and Gupta 2010, Yip et al. 2011, Rahman et al. 2012), and to resort to other criminal/illicit behaviours to fund their gambling (Ladd and Petry 2002). Despite the fact there is relatively limited evidence to support these apparent gendered patterns they do appear to fit wider traditional understandings of gendered behaviour. However, it worth noting that gendered nature of alcohol consumption has changed significantly in recent years as opportunities for women to drink, and social attitudes to women's drinking have evolved. Thus, it is reasonable to speculate that attitudes to women gambling and women's patterns of gambling behaviour may also change as result, particularly with the development of internet gambling which offers a more conducive space for women to gamble.

Since the early 2000s a number of studies have begun to produce evidence that young people from minority ethnic groups are more likely to gamble and to become problem gamblers than

those from majority groups (e.g. Stinchfield 2000, Derevensky and Gupta 2000, Hardoon, Gupta and Derevensky 2004, Nower et al. 2004, Ellenbogen et al. 2007, Martins et al. 2008, Zangeneh et al. 2010, Simmons et al. 2016). A number of different explanations have been offered to account for this pattern. Martins et al. (2008) suggests that growing up in neighbourhoods where there are high levels of poverty and adult unemployment, as well as weak parental supervision, may contribute to explaining the involvement of African-American teenage girls in risky gambling activities. It is an explanation which Simmons et al. (2016) agree may account for the pattern of higher levels of participation in gambling and problem gambling they found among African-American compared to young people of white ethnicities (aged 13 to 20) in a survey (n=1076) conducted in four urban public high schools in the south east of the United States. In the UK one of the unanticipated findings of the NLC survey was that the probabilities of problem gambling were significantly elevated among Asian children despite the fact that the majority were from Pakistani, Bangladeshi or Indian backgrounds where as a consequence of Muslim and Hindu teachings gambling is commonly disavowed. Notably, an Asian child was four times more likely to be a problem gambler than a white child where both shared other baseline characteristics (Forrest and McHale 2012). Other studies (e.g. Ellenbogen et al. 2007) have identified that immigrants face considerable challenges adjusting to a new culture and that as a consequence some may be at risk of developing mental ill health and gambling, alcohol or substance abuse. Such explanations linking higher rates of problem gambling to socio-economic disadvantage and the challenges of integration perhaps also chime with the findings of the British Gambling Prevalence Survey 2010 which found that Asian/Asian British or Black/Black British adults were more likely to gamble for enhancement or coping reasons than those who were classified as White/White (Forrest and Wardle 2011, Wardle, Moody et al. 2010).

Recognising that young people with gambling-related problems have been found to experience more negative major life events than those who do not gamble (Bergevin et al. 2006), Storr et al (2012) explored cross-sectional associations between adverse life events and gambling, drawing on a sample largely comprised of African-American students from urban neighbourhoods. Contrary however to other studies, they did not find that the experience of adverse life events was associated with having a gambling-related problem, although it was connected to the frequency of gambling.

Other studies have also begun to look at the relationship between cultural differences (including for example language and religious beliefs) and patterns of problem gambling. A study of parents from two of Canada's largest cultural groups - Anglophones and Francophones- found a number of cultural differences in their attitudes towards gambling, the degree to which they consider young people to be at risk and their actual parenting practices. For example, Francophone parents were more likely to consider young people to be more at risk of problem gambling than adults; to be suspicious about whether their child was gambling and reported finding it easier to initiate conversations with their child about gambling and did so more often than the Anglophone parents. Such cultural differences may influence the degree to which young people from these communities are at risk of becoming problem gamblers (Campbell et al. 2012). In contrast, a US study of young adults (using data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health) raised in different religious traditions and those with no religious affiliation did not find that those raised in traditions with prohibitions against gambling were less likely to gamble. Moreover, rather unexpectedly, those young adult gamblers who attended religious services up to three times per month as teenagers were more likely to experience gambling problems than those who reported they did not do so (Ueker and Stokes 2015). These findings indicate the need for further exploration of cultural and religious differences in patterns of gambling and problem gambling.

A number of authors, in a range of international contexts, have sought to summarise the risk factors associated with problem gambling. The characteristics they identify are broadly similar (see for example: Winters et al 1993b, Jacobs 2000, Barnes et al. 2005, Storr et al. 2012, Gori et al. 2015). In the UK Griffiths (2002) lists them as:

- being a young man;
- having a big win early in a gambling career;
- starting gambling at an early age;
- having parents who gamble or engage in other addictive behaviours;
- having low self esteem;
- achieving low grades at school;
- chasing losses;
- gambling alone;
- being depressed before a gambling session;
- using gambling to cultivate status among peers;
- having erroneous perceptions about gambling;

- engaging in other addictive behaviours such as smoking, illegal drugs or alcohol;
- having a history of delinquency;
- stealing money to fund gambling;
- truanting from school to go gambling;

Other factors that might be added include: having a positive attitude to gambling (Dickson et al. 2002a/b); demonstrating impulsive behaviour at an early age (Shenassa et al. 2011, Vitaro and Wanner 2011); moving home frequently; living in a disorganised neighbourhood (Scholes-Balog et al 2014); coming from a conflictual family (Scholes-Balog et al 2014); having low levels of parental monitoring or support (Dowling et al 2010); and failing to properly understand the risks involved in gambling (Wood, Griffiths et al. 2002) including being susceptible to erroneous beliefs concerning randomness and chance (Delfabbro, Lambos et al. 2009).

In contrast, key protective factors have been identified by Scholes-Balog et al. (2014) as:

- being female;
- being close to parents;
- being rewarded for pro-social involvement in the family (e.g. parents praise hard work and tell their child they are proud of them);
- being rewarded for pro-social involvement in the community (e.g. people in the neighbourhood provide encouragement to do well);
- being rewarded for pro-social involvement in school (e.g. teachers praise hard work; friends respect school achievements);
- interacting with pro-social peers (e.g. having friends who also try hard at school);
- having a belief in the moral order (e.g. being honest);
- being adaptive and able to cope with stress;
- having emotional self-control;
- having self-efficacy;

Whereas most studies concentrate just on risk factors, Scholes-Balog et al (2014) used a large longitudinal dataset to explore a wide range of both risk and protective factors for problem gambling together across multiple domains of young adults' lives. When each risk and protective factor was considered separately (controlling for age and gender), a wide range of factors associated with the family, school, peers and the individual were predictive of young adult problem gambling in line with other studies cited above. However, when these risk and

protective factors were considered together being female was identified as the only statistically significant protective factor. An interesting interaction was also found between a risk factor and a protective factor with family rewards for prosocial involvement moderating the risk relationship between alcohol use and young adult problem gambling. In other words, these findings suggest that the relationship between alcohol use and problem gambling is dependent on the nature of the family environment in which a child grows up (see also Section 6 The Transmission of Patterns of Gambling). The implications of this are discussed further in Section 9 on the Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling.

5. Motivations for Gambling

5.1 The Buzz of Playing and Rewards of Winning

Griffiths (1995) has argued that slot machines themselves are one of the attractive features of play for young people. He points out that these machines motivate young people to play not only because they are rewarding as they require a low stake and produce frequent wins, but also because they aurally, and visually stimulating, with flashing lights and sound effects contributing to the generation of a sense of fun and activity. Indeed, several commentators have suggested that manufacturers use both art-work and the structural characteristics of slot machines to attract players and to induce them to continue to play (Fabian 1995, Griffiths and Wood 2000). Likewise, Griffiths (2000) has also shown how scratchcards, as products, motivate young people to gamble: dubbing them 'paper fruit machines'. He argues that these instant win products are potentially addictive because they involve rapid event frequency, short payout intervals, psychological rewards and no skills are needed.

There is some limited evidence of links between slot machine gambling and both video lottery terminal (VLT) gambling and video game playing because these activities share many of the same features. For example, a survey of 996 young people aged 10-17 in Montreal, Canada, found a clear relationship between video game playing and gambling. Problem gamblers (defined by the DSM-IV-J screen) were significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers or non-gamblers to: spend excessive amounts of time playing video games; to rate themselves as excellent video game players; and to regard video games as a relaxing form of escape (Wood et al 2004).

Indeed, research suggests that young people overestimate the role of skill and ability in gambling and their chance of winning (Kristiansen, Jensen and Trabjerg (2014), believing that

practice will make them a better gambler in the same way that repetition can bring improvements in performance in relation to other types of games (Derevensky, Gupta and Cioppa 1996). Other studies have also found evidence that young people may have trouble differentiating between the concepts of: luck, fate, chance and probability and that they often use these terms interchangeably, whereas adults are more aware of the difference between these terms (Wood and Griffiths 2002, Delfabbro, Lambos et al. 2009). Younger children also appear to believe that the higher the winnings the more the chance of winning and to engage in superstitious behaviour (e.g. using lucky numbers) that they believe will influence their chance of winning (in other words, they have an illusion of control) and which motivate them to continue to play particular games, such as the lottery (Derevensky, Gupta and Cioppa 1996, Wood and Griffiths 2002).

Whereas research to understand why young people gamble has tended to focus on their motivations for pursuing these activities, findings from drug and alcohol studies highlight the importance of understanding outcome expectancies in young people's decisions to engage in high risk behaviour. This evidence base suggests that those who perceive less risk of addiction in drugs are more likely to experiment and have drug problems; whereas positive outcome expectancies have been found to be significantly more effective at predicting young people's alcohol use than negative outcome expectancies (Gillespie et al. 2007a). Gillespie et al. (2007a) have developed a Gambling Expectancy Questionnaire (GEQ) (this includes 48 risk/benefit items addressing the multifaceted consequences of gambling and using a 7-point Likert scale to capture a range of expectancy strength) to measure the positive or negative outcome expectancies that influence young people's participation in gambling. The GEQ was administered in groups to 1,013 young people aged 11-18 in schools from the greater Montreal area of Canada.

The study found that positive outcomes were most likely to be anticipated from gambling by young people with gambling-related problems, despite the fact that this group were actual experiencing negative consequences from their gambling activities (e.g. chasing losses, lying to family members, truancy, conflict etc). Gillespie et al. (2007b) explain this pattern by drawing on immediacy assumption theory. This understands positive outcomes (e.g. excitement, enjoyment, socialising with friends, impressing others, feeling in control, financial gains etc.) to be 'more immediate and therefore more powerful in influencing behaviour than are long-term negative outcomes' which are commonly delayed costs (e.g. debt, guilt etc.) (Gillespie et al. 2007b: 78).

Thus despite recognising and experiencing the negative consequences of their behaviour the probable pathological young gamblers surveyed perceived the potential benefits of gambling to outweigh the costs because of this temporal factor. Moreover, the young men surveyed were more likely to anticipate that gambling would provide pleasure and financial gains than young women who were more aware than their male counterparts of the risk of the emotional impact of gambling. Gillespie et al. (2007b) suggest that these findings may therefore also contribute to explaining gender differences in gambling prevalence rates.

5.2 The Role of Advertising

Gambling advertisements have proliferated in the last two decades. The development of the internet and social media has not only led to new forms of gambling but also to new ways in which gambling can be promoted through multiple media environments (Lindsay et al 2013, Thomas 2014). There has also been an explosion in the promotion of gambling through sport – which McMullan (2011) has dubbed the 'gamblification of sporting matches'. Both trends have raised particular concerns about the implications for young people's exposure to gambling given their online activities and consumption of social media as well as engagement with sport (Lindsay et al. 2013). Advertisements commonly portray gambling as glamorous, and exciting (Derevenesky, Gupta et al. 2009, McMullan et al. 2012). However, there are relatively few empirical studies to-date which investigate young people's awareness of gambling advertisements and their impact on behaviour.

A qualitative study (n=59 families) to look at how parents and young people (aged 14 to 18) interact with, and interpret messages, in gambling advertisements found that the gambling messages that most resonated with families were those that evoked culturally valued activities and aspirations (e.g. they highlighted social connectedness such as spending time with family members or winnings that would enable them to provide for family and friends). Advertisements that used positive emotional framing techniques were also well received (Thomas 2014).

A survey of 1,147 young people aged 12 to 19 from five secondary schools in Quebec and three secondary schools in Ontario, Canada found that 61 per cent had received spam gambling advertisements by e-mail and 96 per cent had seen advertisements for gambling on television (Derevensky, Sklar et al. 2010). While most of the young people recognised common key messages such as: winning is easy, the chance of winning is high and that gambling is an easy way to become wealthy, the pupils were also dismissive of these messages and aware of the

risks associated with gambling. Rather than inciting non-gamblers to begin gambling, the research found that it was problem gamblers who were more likely to recall view gambling advertisements and to report gambling after seeing an advertisement, and who were also the most susceptible to the suggestion in ads that success was imminent. However, Derevensky, Sklar et al. (2010) caution against jumping to the conclusion that exposure to advertising may be causally related to problem gambling. Rather, they observe that problems gamblers may notice such advertisements and find it easier to remember them because a preoccupation with gambling is a typically associated with problem gambling. Indeed, individuals with gambling problems were also more likely to recall that advertisements advocate and promote responsible gambling, although recognising this message did not seem to have affected their own behaviours (see also Derevensky, Gupta et al. 2009).

While the gambling industry is not supposed to target advertisements specifically at young people, nonetheless the type of advertisements used, are often attractive to those under 18 (Derevensky and Gupta 2004a/b, Derevenesky, Gupta et al. 2009). May-Chahal et al (2004) draws parallels with the advertisement of alcoholic drinks. Here, following concerns that alcohol was being promoted by the drink industry in ways designed to appeal to the under 18s, a voluntary code of practice was developed by the UK drinks industry body (at the time – now no longer in existence) The Portman Group (Measham 1996): a practice recently followed by the gambling industry, which has also developed its own industry code in relation to responsible advertising.

To-date there is insufficient empirical evidence to assess definitively the impact of gambling advertising on young people's motivation to, or participation in, gambling (Wood and Griffiths 2004, Binde 2014, Thomas 2014). The UK *Gambling Act* (2005) was criticised for allowing children to be exposed to pro-gambling messages because it eased restrictions on gambling products and advertisements (Moodie and Hastings 2008). However, gambling advertisements are regulated. Specifically, the Gambling Commission, Advertising Standards Association (ASA), and Ofcom are responsible for enforcing regulations in relation to gambling advertising. The Gambling Commission's (2007) Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice require that all operators comply with the broadcast (BCAP) and non-broadcast (CAP) Advertising Standards Codes and the industry code of practice (*Gambling Act*, 2005). In particular, these codes require that advertisements do not exploit the 'susceptibilities, aspirations, credulity, inexperience or lack of knowledge of children, young people or other vulnerable people'; and that they should not 'be likely to be of particular appeal to children and young person's, especially by reflecting or being

associated with youth culture'. Advertisements that breach the code are amended or withdrawn. If the breach of the code is serious or repetitive the ASA may refer an advertiser to the Gambling Commission, or broadcaster to Ofcom, to take legal or regulatory action (*Gambling Act* 2005). A survey by the Advertising Standards Association's compliance team (2007) of a sample of 784 advertisements in the national press, consumer magazines, outdoor posters, direct mailings, circulars, internet, and on television and radio found that only seven (one per cent) appeared to have breached the CAP or BCAP Codes. Six of these advertisements were on television; the seventh was on the internet.

Despite a relatively limited evidence base to assess whether gambling advertising has a direct effect on young people's gambling activities Griffiths (2005) argues that notwithstanding this, there is a need for more socially responsible advertising – which he suggests might include a government warning on lottery/scratchcard products akin to those on cigarettes and alcohol -- and for potentially 'vulnerable' groups, such as children, to be further protected from exposure to gambling products/premises through advertising (see also Wood and Griffiths 2004). Other researchers have also called for responsible codes of practice and guidelines to be established (Monaghan and Derevensky 2008, Monagahan et al. 2008, Thomas 2014). In the United States, lottery corporations are exempt from the Federal Truth in Advertising statute. While some jurisdictions have approved such codes enforcement by regulatory boards is frequently absent. Indeed, in some cases the advertising agency responsible for developing social responsibility messages is the same agency charged with increasing revenues from gambling (Derevensky, Sklar et al. 2010).

6. The Transmission of Patterns of Gambling: intergenerational, and peer group factors

There is a an extensive and very convincing body of international evidence dating back nearly 40 years (e.g. Ladouceur & Mireault 1988, Gambino et al 1993, Becoña et al. 1995, Winters et al 1995, Gupta and Derevensky 1997, Wood and Griffiths 1998, Jacobs 2000, Delfabbro and Thrupp 2003, Felsher et al 2003, Langhinrichson-Rohling et al. 2004, Oei and Raylu 2004, Delfabbro, Lahn and Grabosky 2005a, Tepperman et al. 2011, Delfabbro, King and Griffiths 2014) which demonstrates the role of parents in introducing children to gambling (for example, by showing them how to use gaming machines and providing them with money with which to gamble) and normalising this activity as part of banal family activities/histories (which in some cases have been passed down the generations as family traditions: see Moscovitch 2006).

In the UK a self-reported questionnaire survey of 1195 young people aged 11-15 found a significant link between parents' and children's gambling in relation to lottery products, with young people stating that most lottery tickets and scratchcards were bought for them by their parents (Wood and Griffiths 1998). Subsequent work by Griffiths (2000), Wood (2004) and Wood and Griffiths (2002) in the UK provides repeated evidence of the role of parents in purchasing scratchcards for young people, and of the way that young perceive the national lottery and associated products to be a social activity enjoyed with other family members. The 2009 Ipsos MORI survey (n=8,598) found that the children (aged 11-15) who stated that their parents gambled were significantly more likely to gamble themselves than those who reported that their parents do not gamble (Griffiths 2010b).The findings also indicated that parents may be less likely to talk to their children about gambling than about other 'risky' behaviours such as drinking, smoking and drugs. For example a fifth of those surveyed did not know how their parents would feel about them gambling on fruit machines, in contrast only five per cent reported that they were unaware of their parents' attitudes to smoking (Griffiths 2010b).

This strong link between parents' and young people's gambling is a cause for concern especially as other research evidence suggests that the earlier young people start to gamble the more they are likely to become problem gamblers (Wood and Griffiths 1998, Volberg 2002, Delfabbro and Thrupp 2003, Griffiths 2010b, Shead, Derevensky and Gupta 2010, Derevensky 2012). A review of four independent studies exploring the intergenerational and familial transmission of gambling problems in Australia (Dowling et al., 2010) found that people who had a parent or sibling with a gambling problem were between two and ten times more likely to follow suit than those who did not come from families where there was a history of problem gambling. The 'modelling' of gambling behaviour (Tremblay et al 1998, Forrest and McHale 2012, McComb and Sabiston 2010) has been termed the 'intergenerational multiplier effect' (Abbott 2001). It commonly follows gender lines: although having a father who is a problem gambler increases the risk that a son will follow suit, more than having a mother who is a problem gambler raises the likelihood that a daughter will do so (Walters 2001, Dowling et al. 2010). Wood and Griffiths (1998) also suggest that it is not only family members who may model gambling behaviour to young people, but also celebrities such as the television and music stars that commonly feature in televised lottery programmes.

In last decade research has moved away from relying on children's assessments of their parents' attitudes to underage gambling - which has indicated tacit parental acceptance towards a focus on the parents' own accounts. For example, an on-line national survey of Canadian adults with one or more teenager offspring (n=3315) found that the parents considered underage gambling to be a less important cause for concern than other potentially risky behaviours, and few were aware of the potential seriousness of youth gambling (Campbell et al. 2011). The fact that signs of a gambling problem are not easily observable (Derevensky 2012), and that most parents consider gambling an adult matter, may account for this lack of parental concern. Mothers responding to the survey were more likely to report gambling on raffle and lottery scratch cards with their children, whereas fathers were more likely to indicate that they take part in sports related or competitive forms of gambling (i.e., poker, games of skill) with their children (especially sons). Fewer fathers than mothers considered underage gambling to be a serious issue. Unsurprisingly, mothers were the parent most likely to talk to their offspring about gambling and to be the most aware of any educational materials they had received at school. Shead, Deverevensky and Meerkamper (2011) argue that underage gambling prevention programmes need to take account of, and address, the gendered nature of parental attitudes and behaviours. More broadly research highlights the importance of educating parents as well as children about the risks associated with young people's gambling in the same way that UK public health campaigns have addressed issues of childhood smoking, and obesity (see also Section 9). Otherwise, it will be hard to control under age gambling if strong familial cultures of gambling persist

While parents can actually directly model 'gambling' to their offspring so transmitting attitudes towards, and practices of gambling across the generations, they can also have a more indirect influence on their children's development of problem gambling. In particular, family stress while not having a directly casual relationship with gambling behaviour can nonetheless be a source of vulnerability. For example, among the factors which increase the risk of young people becoming problem gamblers Griffiths (2002) cites the following familial contexts as risk factors: coming from a fragmented, or disruptive family; encountering difficult and stressful situations at home; being aware of a heavy emphasis on money within the family; the death of a parent or parental figure in childhood; serious injury or illness in the family; infidelity by a parent; high incidence of verbal, physical or sexual abuse at home; feelings of rejection as a child; and feeling belittled or disempowered as a child.

Other North American studies have also identified similar familial risk factors including coming from families that are: strict but inconsistent in terms of discipline (Politzer et al. 1992); perceived as lacking cohesion and as offering low social support (Ciarrocchi and Hohmann 1989); where parents are perceived as emotionally distant or overly critical (Hardoon, Gupta and Derevensky 2004); where there have been experiences of traumatic life events and poor coping skills are evident (Hardoon, Gupta and Derevensky 2004) or where children have been maltreated emotionally, physically or sexually (Felsher et al. 2010). A longitudinal study (n=514 predominantly African American) in Baltimore, US, to examine the relationship between parental monitoring of children (aged 11 to 14) and their offspring's subsequent gambling activities between the ages of 16 and 22, found that low and/or declining levels of monitoring by parents of children aged 11 to 14 were significantly associated with problem gambling (SOG-RA screen) in early adulthood (Lee, Stuart, Ialongo and Martins 2013). In a review of 21 empirical studies published between 1997 and 2008 McComb and Saviston (2010) classify family influences on young people's gambling and gambling related problems in terms of: (1) sociodemographic factors, (2) general family climate, (3) family members' attitudes and behaviours, (4) parenting practices, and (5) family relationship characteristics. They conclude by arguing that more research is needed to understand the complexity of the influence of family relationships, parenting practices and socio-demographics on gambling behaviours.

Here, there is also need to consider the potential influence of family members other than parents. Lang and Randall (2013) point out that and grandparents are growing in important in the lives of contemporary young people as a consequence of increased longevity, and their frequent role as child-care providers in dual-income households. They observe that a study by Wiebe and Cox (2005) found that out of a sample of 1,000 adults aged 60 and older 75 per cent had gambled in the past year at least once a week, with 2.8 per cent meeting DSM-IV criteria for problem or pathological gambling. Given these trends, Lang and Randall (2013) collected data from students (aged 18 to 25) at an upper Midwestern university, US about their perceptions of the gambling attitudes and behaviours of their closest grandparent. Their findings support the hypothesis that young people are susceptible to internalizing the views and practices of other family members, besides parents with whom they are close. Lang and Randall (2013) argue that as a consequence more attention needs to be paid to understanding the intergenerational transmission of gambling between grandparents and grandchildren.

Siblings have also received surprisingly little attention in gambling research despite the fact that they might be expected to exert a similar influence on young people's attitudes and behaviours as close family members or friends. One exception is a study by Vitaro et al. (2015) which explored whether gambling in early teenage years can be fostered by a sibling's gambling behaviour given that previous studies have shown that delinquency can be encouraged in this way. It involved a sample of 628 same sex twins who were raised together (151 male dyads, 163 female dyads). They were each asked to provide self-reports on their involvement in gambling and delinguency at the ages of 13, 14 and 15. Employing a longitudinal actor-partner interdependence model, Vitaro et al. (2015) found that while higher levels of delinquency in one twin did produce systematic increases in the delinguent behaviour of the other twin, somewhat unexpectedly, similar between-twin effects were not found for gambling. The research also identified that delinquency systematically fostered an increase in gambling between the ages of 13 to 14, and 14 to 15, whereas gambling only furthered an increase in delinguency between the age of 14 to 15. Given the unanticipated findings reported in this study, and the lack of an evidence base about the effect of sibling relationships on young people's gambling, it is an area that needs future research.

Beyond the familial context, peer groups have an important influence on young people's risktaking behaviours (including not only gambling but also smoking, drinking, and under age sex) which represent an inherent part of the process of making the transition from childhood to adulthood (Plant & Plant 1992, Parke et al 1998). Evidence from the social studies of childhood literature suggests that for children contemporary status within their own peer groups is more important to them than adult concerns about their education or future health and well-being (Valentine et al. 2010). James' (1993) gualitative research demonstrates that in managing their peer group relationships young people commonly walk a tight-rope between 'conformity' and 'individuality', in other words behaving like others to fit in with the group while at the same time contributing something different that makes them valued. In particular, Jones and Jones (2000) argue that problematic or anti-social behaviour is 'contagious' because 'influential friends' legitimise these activities and enrol others into them through processes including goading, coercion and competitiveness. The more embedded in a lifestyle or peer group that individuals become the more the practices of that group can become a reference points for individuals' own behaviours, motivating them to engage in particular activities - such as gambling - in order to achieve status amongst their peers (Prus 2004, Wanner et al. 2009). For example, Griffiths' (1990a, 1995) work demonstrates the significance of young people's social networks in relation to gambling. This has shown that young people who are in peer groups of problem gamblers put pressure on each other to continue gambling; whereas those who participate in gambling with non-problem gamblers actually used peer pressure to look after each other and to try and stop vulnerable individuals gambling too heavily. Likewise, in North America Derevensky and Gupta (1999) have found that the long lasting friendships of young people with severe gambling problems are often replaced by their gambling associates.

Certain youth subcultures may also foster particular types of gambling – such as participation in sports team and sports gambling (DiCicco-Bloom and Romer 2011). Here, Kristiansen, Trabjerg and Reith (2015) suggest that young people gamble with sporting peers in order to maintain a sense of belonging rather than necessarily through a desire to win. These emergent relationships between specific types of peer relationships and gambling point to the need for further research on this theme.

Within the gambling studies literature specifically there is some evidence that the majority of young people are aware of the potential dangers gambling poses in terms of addiction and debt. However, the evidence from the wider social studies of childhood literature suggests that children and young people often ignore public health messages (e.g. about alcohol, obesity, sex etc.) despite being aware of the risks they run with their own behaviour (cf. Valentine et al. 2010). This is for a number of reasons including: because young people commonly regard themselves as invulnerable or immune from problem behaviour; they believe their risky behaviour is only a temporary phase during their youth that will be curtailed as they move into adulthood and that as a consequence their contemporary risky behaviour will have no long term consequences for them; that their risky behaviour is offset by other positive behaviours which negate any harmful effects; or that they will 'naturally' recovery self-control. The lesson from this literature is that there is a need for more research to explore the type and style of public health education messages about the potential harms which gambling can pose to which young people might respond (see Section 9 The Treatment and Prevention of Problem Gambling).The following section examines the impact of gambling on young people and their families.

7. The Impact of Gambling on Young People and Families

Problem gambling can have effects on young people's mental, material, and social well-being (e.g. Jackson 1999). In particular, young people who have developed problem gambling also commonly experience a range of mental health issues including high rates of depression, (e.g.

Gupta and Derevensky 1998a/b), increased risk of suicide and attempted suicide (e.g. Gupta and Derevensky 1998a/b), as well as feelings of guilt and shame and problems with relationships (Raisamo et al. 2013). Some research (e.g. Huxley and Carroll 1992) has found evidence of young people stealing from other family members to fund their gambling. The 2015 Prevalence of Underage Gambling survey for the Gambling Commission in the UK found that 3 per cent of children (aged 11 to 15) had taken money without permission from their family or outside their family, from dinner/fare money, or from things they had sold elsewhere to spend on gambling. Nearly one fifth (19 per cent) of those who had played the National Lottery underage in the previous week admitted having done so with money obtained in such ways (Ipsos MORI 2015).

The lack of financial commitments of young people living at home can act as a cushion against the full negative effects of their gambling and many families go to great lengths to support young people, including paying off their debts in what have been termed 'self-correcting' pathways out of gambling (e.g. Valentine and Hughes 2010, 2012). This can mean that the extent of children and young people's 'problems' can go unrecognised not only by wider community/support agencies but also by young people themselves. In doing so, the impact of young people's problem gambling is commonly transferred onto other family members particularly parents/carers, and siblings. These impacts not only include financial stress (including money that is voluntarily given to support the gambler, or money stolen from family members by a gambler, which is often not reported to the police) on the wider family, but can also include emotional impacts (e.g. parental guilt about or self-blame for their child's problems), including causing domestic arguments (for example, between mothers and fathers about whose fault it is or how they should deal with the problem) and the disruption of family life (Valentine and Hughes 2010, 2012). Indeed, young gamblers can sometimes trade on parental guilt about their child-rearing practices or exploit differences between parent's individual responses to their gambling in order to avoid taking self-responsibility for their own behaviour, to be 'rescued' and in some cases to enable them to carry on gambling (Grant Kalischuk et al. 2006).

Problem gambling has also been correlated with other negative behaviours including truancy from school, poor academic performance, depression and absenteeism from work (Fisher 1993b, Griffiths 1995, Ladouceur, Dubé and Bujold 1994, Ladouceur 1996, Gupta and Derevensky 1997, Cook et al. 2015, Räsänen et al 2015). Of particular concern is that a loss of time spent studying, poor grades or early criminal convictions which may have longer term

consequences for young problem gamblers beyond the gambling problem itself (Gupta and Derevensky 2014) (e.g. in terms of under or unemployment) that are not readily apparent until adulthood when they are difficult to overcome (Raisamo et al. 2012). One study has also identified an association between gambling and young fatherhood. This longitudinal research followed 294 boys from first grade in nine inner city public schools in the US for 16 years, collecting self-reported accounts of gambling during their late adolescence. It found that those who gambled – particularly problem gamblers – were more likely than those who did not to become fathers before they were aged 20 (Lee, Storr, Ialongo and Martins 2013).

There is a significant body of international evidence that suggests that young people's problem gambling often correlates with other addictive behaviours such as smoking, drug and alcohol abuse (e.g. Ladouceur 1996, Dickson et al. 2002a/b, Ste-Marie et al 2006, Ellenbogen et al 2007, Cook et al. 2015, Räsänen et al 2015). For example, studies by Griffiths (1994a/b) in the UK have produced repetitive evidence of such cross addiction, including one survey (with Sutherland) of 4000 young people which found a relationship between gambling, drug-taking and alcohol abuse (Griffiths and Sutherland 1998). Though from the research evidence it is not always clear which of, and to what extent, these factors were present prior to problem gambling; or whether problem gambling caused these outcomes. In other words, problem gambling is often one element in a general pattern of high risk or anti-social behaviour (Dickson et al. 2002a/b, Magoon et al. 2005, Ellenbogen et al. 2007).

The evidence of the relationship between problem gambling and juvenile delinquency and crime is less clear. Some studies have produced evidence of increased levels of aggression among male problem gamblers which can manifest in conflict (Barham 1987, Griffiths 1990a & 1995, Huxley and Carroll 1992, Fisher 1993b, Gupta and Derevensky 1997). However, there is no evidence that such behaviour has a substantive impact on wider communities. For example, a study of 1851 juvenile offenders in Plymouth found that only 4 per cent of juvenile crime in the areas was associated with gaming machines (Yeoman and Griffiths 1996).

There is a lack of research on the relationship between gambling and young people's health. However, one study looking at the effects of gambling on adults' health suggested that problem gambling can lead to poor posture, extended periods indoors, a lack of exercise and poor patterns of eating/drinking which in turn result in high blood pressure, back problems, heart disease, alcohol abuse, smoking related problems (first hand and passive) and stress related symptoms (Potenza, Fiellin et al. 2002).

Much less is known about the impact of problem gambling on young women because of their lower prevalence rates (Derevensky and Gupta 2004a/b). In a small scale study of young people's problem gambling with 32 participants - 16 men and 16 women - Wiebe, Cox and Mehmel (2000) found that young women were more likely than the male respondents to attribute their gambling to familial and peer group problems and to have borrowed or stolen money (usually from family members) to cover their gambling debts. The International Center for Youth Gambling Problems and High Risk Behaviours at McGill, Canada scaled-up data from five studies carried out between 2002 and 2005 producing a sample of 7819 (2750 young men and 2563 young women) young people aged 12-18 (in which problem gambling was measured using the DSM-IV-MR-J screen) (Ellengbogen et al. 2007). This meta-analysis produced some evidence of gender differences in terms of the effects of problem gambling. Young male problem gamblers were more likely to describe psychological difficulties (such as a pre-occupation with chasing losses) and young women to report behavioural problems (including: truancy, and stealing from family members at home, lying and having family conflicts) as a result of their gambling. However, rates of depression and substance use did not vary significantly by gender: a finding which runs counter to the evidence from some smaller-scale studies (Ellengbogen et al. 2007).

The following section considers the regulatory frameworks established to protect young people in different jurisdictions.

8.Regulatory Frameworks to Protect Young People

Laws and government policies in most national contexts are generally very inconsistent in relation to young people (for example, allowing them to consent to sex and get married at 16 but not vote or buy alcohol till 18). Young people's rights and responsibilities are shaped in effect by a complex mixture of legal rights, informal social rules, parental rules and individual circumstances. In relation to the regulation of gambling young people occupy an ambiguous position in many jurisdictions being regarded as having autonomy to participate in some activities, yet being constructed as 'dependents' requiring protection in others. For example, access to casinos in the UK is limited to those aged 18 years and above, yet from the age of 16 young people can legally purchase National Lottery tickets and scratch cards, and children of

any age can play low stakes/low prize Category D fruit machines (it is high prize money gaming machines that have been particularly linked to problem gambling) (Fisher 1995) in leisure centres, arcades and other family entertainment venues. Likewise, in Finland, Denmark and Poland there are minimum age limits on casinos and slot machines but no age regulations in relation to the purchase of lotto tickets or scratch cards (Temcheff et al. 2011).

There is also considerable variability in the regulation of young people's access to gambling between jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions worldwide the minimum age at which a young person can be admitted to a casino is the same as in the UK: 18 years old. Yet, for some Canadian provinces the age of entry is 19 or older, and in many jurisdictions in the US the minimum age for entry is 21.

In the US where the regulation of gambling varies by State there are huge inconsistencies in minimum age legislation. For example, all forms of gambling are illegal for individuals under 21 in the state of Nevada, although it does not have a state lottery; whereas West Virginia currently permits bingo playing at 16. Some jurisdictions have placed limits on wager sizes, the amount of money spent per excursion and where casino gaming can be offered (Blaszczynski 2001). Only six states - Louisiana, Montana, Nevada, Oregon, South Dakota & West Virginia - allow EGMs outside gambling venues (Williams et al. 2012). The National Coalition Against the Spread of Legalized Gambling established to oppose new, and repeal existing, legislation to permit gambling has had success in some states (e.g. removal of slot machines from South Carolina). The provision of responsible gambling, self-exclusion, and education programs are also variously implemented across states. Like the situation in the US - in Canada -- because each province sets its own regulations there are regional variations in access to gambling. In most provinces age restrictions prevent minors from participating in government regulated gambling. These age bars vary according to the type of activity and also differ by province. For example, the legal age for buying lottery tickets in the provinces varies between 18 and 19, with provincial laws also differing with regard to the age at which young people are permitted to play provincially regulated EGMs (Canadian Partnership for Responsible Gambling, 2009 cited in Campbell et al. 2011).

While minimum-age legislation and regulatory policies are important in the prevention of underage gambling participation, they have been only moderately effective in reducing young people's access to gambling (Temcheff et al. 2011). Large-scale prevalence surveys in a

number of national jurisdictions continue to show significant levels of underage gambling particularly on lottery and scratch card type activities. A Masters study by St-Pierre (2008, reported in Campbell et al. 2012) which investigated retailer compliance with lottery laws in and around the city of Montreal, found that young people aged 15 to 17 were regularly allowed to buy lottery products without providing any form of identification. Subsequent research (St-Pierre et al. 2011) indicated that only two thirds of retailers were compliant with statutes. The gender of the purchaser and vendor, and the type of store were found to be significant predictors' of young people's ability to purchase age-restricted merchandise, with male vendors and those in independently owned stores more likely to sell lottery products to those underage. This is a matter of concern and suggests that lottery operators need to take into account the characteristics of differing vendor groups in the provision of training and when checking compliance (St Pierre et al 2011). Variations in minimum age requirements and divergent laws and regulations across controlled products (such as gaming activities, alcohol and tobacco) provide a further challenge to retailer training (Age-Restricted Products Review Group, 2010, Temcheff et al. 2011) and suggest that common legislation governing all aspects of the sale of age-restricted products might facilitate the ability of retailers to understand and implement the law (St-Pierre et al 2011).

Blaszczynski et al. (2014) have argued that operators have a significant role to play in enforcing age restrictions. They suggest that staff training should convey the potential implications for the employee, the consumer and the organisation if they fail to enforce age restrictions. It should also promote active rather than passive engagement by staff with customers (for example, checking age-appropriateness rather than just whether a young person possesses valid identification). In the UK the national lottery operator uses: retailer training; test purchasing visits carried out by over 16s who look younger; and provides educational resources for schools as measures to support the enforcement of this age restriction. In addition to serving as a mechanism for restricting sales of lottery products to minors, research suggests that requesting age identification from young-looking customers can deter individuals from making future attempts to purchase lottery products while underage (Ipsos MORI 2009). In Australia, Queensland was the first state to establish a Responsible Gambling Code of Practice which is a voluntary, industry commitment to best practice. All gambling providers in Queensland are responsible for its implementation. Provisions specifically in relation to young people include: the prohibiting of minors from gambling and from accessing designated gambling areas; and a ban on advertisements and promotions that are implicitly or explicitly directed at minors or vulnerable or disadvantaged groups (Queensland Department of Justice and Attorney General 2015). In New Zealand gambling establishments have to prove actively that underage gamblers are denied access or they can have their licenses revoked (particularly in relation to types of gambling like EGMS which are considered to be the most addictive) and fines can be imposed on those attempting to participate in gambling underage.

While some researchers (e.g. Temcheff et al 2011) have suggested that stricter measures and penalties are needed to further enhance operators' compliance with minimum age legislation and policies, Blaszczynski et al. (2014) point out that is also important to recognise that part of the responsibility of enforcing age restrictions lies beyond the operators' remit. As Section 6 (The Transmission of Patterns of Gambling) above identified, there is a significant evidence base to suggest that friends and family members play a critical role in helping young people to circumvent age verification and to access gambling opportunities underage. This suggests that there is a need to raise public awareness of the potential risks associated with underage gambling. Strategies to do so are discussed in Section 9 on the The Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling.

8.1 On-line Gambling and Social Gaming

The legal position of internet gambling is complex and varies from country to country and also within different jurisdictions within some countries (Wood and Williams 2007). Australia was the first nation to legalise internet gambling and 25 other nations have so far followed suit. Given that the internet enables gambling across national borders it presents new challenges for government regulation. Some countries have legalised online gambling enabling residents and non residents to gamble in all forms of online gambling within and beyond the country. Other countries have adopted more complex regulation making certain forms of online gambling legal (e.g. lotteries, sports betting) and other forms illegal (usually casino games). Others still have sought to regulate on the basis of residency, prohibiting non-residents from accessing jurisdiction-based on-line gambling sites (e.g. Canadian provinces, Finland); or prohibiting residents from accessing or transferring money to on-line gambling sites located outside the country (e.g. Netherlands, Norway). Some countries even prevent residents from accessing jurisdiction based on-line sites' (paraphrased from Wood and Williams 2007: 5). For example, in 2001 Australia's Interactive Gambling Act came into force. This prohibits Australian residents from accessing certain interactive gambling sites such as on-line casino services but allows access to other sites, such as interactive sports betting (although it does not stop Australian residents from gambling in overseas on-line casinos, nor Australian companies setting up on online companies in overseas countries to service Austrian online gamblers) (Bostock 2005). However, the Productivity Commission's (the Australian Government's independent research and advisory body which covers a range of economic, social and environmental issues that affect the welfare of its citizens) inquiry into gambling industries concluded that although the ban on online gaming had probably limited its growth, it had also had the unintended effect of driving consumers onto international sites, some with poor harm minimisation features (Productivity Commission 2010). It considered that regulated access to domestic or licensed overseas online providers would enable consumers to access some of the benefits of online gambling while reducing their risk of harm by drawing them away from unsafe sites. The Commission therefore recommended the Australian Government to amend the *Interactive Gambling Act* to allow online poker games, subject to a strict regime of consumer protection.

Other countries have taken a more hard-line approach to internet gambling. This is in part because of fears that on-line gambling is potentially a riskier form of gambling because of the anonymity afforded by the internet and because on-line gambling is often done in isolation. In the US most on-line gambling is prohibited by federal and state laws, and federal enforcement agencies are also attempting to clamp down on cross-border gambling. In October 2006 the Federal Unlawful Internet Gaming Enforcement Act (UIGEA) came into effect. This made it illegal for financial transaction providers to make fund transfers to on-line gambling sites and illegal for internet gambling providers to accept money transfers from potential American on-line gamblers (Wood and Williams 2007: 6). The law exempts online intra-state sales of lottery tickets, inter-state horse race betting and other intra-state online gambling where the state does not prohibit it (some states prohibit internet gambling). Delaware, Nevada and New Jersey have since introduced state laws to legalise online gambling, though UIGEA means online gamblers can have difficulty getting payments processed online. In October 2014 the European Commission referred Sweden to the European Court of Justice, deeming its restrictions of online betting to fall foul of EU free trade law (European Commission 2014). In theory online gambling is legal in Sweden but in practice only one state-backed company has been awarded a licence to operate. The Swedish Government has stated its intention to introduce new gaming legislation by 2018. The EU permits restrictions on online gambling only for the public policy objectives of preventing problem gambling and criminal activities.

Despite this complex and developing international legislative context for internet gambling Campbell et al (2011) observe that governments have largely ignored young people as a group in need of protection from gambling related harms on line. The approach to internet gambling in the UK has been to establish mandatory measures to protect young people: operators must not make sites attractive to children; should carry out random credit card checks to verify age; should use best publicly available data to verify age from whichever country the customer is from (Gambling Commission 2007). The *Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act* (2014) brought about regulatory changes for online gambling to regulate at the point of consumption rather than supply. This Act ensures that all remote service operators providing online gambling facilities to British consumers are subject to regulation (Gambling Commission 2014).

However, given the complexities of on-line regulation controlling under age gambling is problematic. Age limits obviously vary on foreign websites according to different national legislation. While the prerequisite of a credit card makes it difficult in theory for some young people to participate in on-line gambling, in practice increasing numbers of young people under 18 have access to debit and credit cards. There has also been some work done to develop software to block gambling websites from personal computers. A number of parental control packages are now available to purchase which can prevent access to inappropriate content such as gambling websites (Campbell et al. 2011), although research (described below in Section 9 The Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling) suggests that few parents consider gambling by children and young people to be a major concern. While the evidence base about young people's underage gambling on-line is still relatively limited, some research has found evidence that young people can still register on gambling sites even though they are under-age. Indeed, forms of age verification can vary widely. Good practice requires that two forms of identification should be provided, one of which should include a passport. However, there is growing concern about young people's access to internet gambling and recognition of the need for internet gambling sites to have more effective age checks and to prevent underage gamblers from playing freebie demos on on-line web sites as well as more proactive standards to be established by regulators (e.g. Derevensky, Gupta and McBride 2006, Campbell et al 2011, Gainsbury et al 2013). Though it is also worth noting that the internet can also provide important help and support/guidance services for problem gamblers (see Griffiths and Cooper 2003, Wood and Griffiths 2007, Valentine and Hughes 2010).

There is an ongoing debate in the UK as to whether social gaming (gambling-style games available through social network platforms and gaming websites) should be subject to legal regulation in the same way as gambling. It is associated with both problem gambling-type risks and transitional risks leading to real money gambling, especially for young people. Social gaming is currently subject to general consumer protection legislation only (such as protection from scams) and the gambling industry's regulatory body, the Gambling Commission (2015), has adopted a 'watching brief' stance. However, Carran and Griffiths (2015) argue there is a need for a system of regulation that would require social gaming and 'demo' gambling to ensure the odds of winning are not misrepresented. They draw attention to the EU Commission's recommendation that Member States should ensure that '*play-for-fun games used in commercial communications are subject to the same rules and technical conditions as the corresponding play-for-money game's* (VIII.42 Commission's Recommendation 2014/478/EU, 2014). Carran and Griffiths (2015) also argue that social gambling games should be required to carry warnings akin to 'real' gambling sites.

In Australia all video games intended for commercial sale must be assessed by the Australian Office of Film and Literature Classification (OFLC). This is a federal government body which provides consumer advice and warnings about the age-appropriateness of video game material. While many jurisdictions (e.g. van Rooij et al. 2010), operate an age rating systems for video games that attempt to restrict young people from accessing certain content in video games, King and Delfabbro (2010) point out that Australia does not currently have adults-only classification system. This is a matter of concern given research that shows that in the last decade, over 100 video games containing simulated gambling have been classified in Australia as suitable for commercial sale to young people yet consumer advice and warnings related to video game material are often inconsistent and/or not adequately provided (King, Ejova and Delfabbro 2012). King, Ejova and Delfabbro (2012) have argued that without effective regulation video games with gambling content may put young players at risk given concerns about the impact of simulated gambling games on young people's knowledge, beliefs, attitudes and behaviours towards gambling.

The International Social Games Association has drafted Best Practice Principles for the social games industry and launched a Smart Social Gamers consumer education portal which provides information and guidance about the control of in-app purchases and responsible play. However, beyond self-regulation, Gainsbury King, Abarbanel et al (2015) argue that a set of international

standards to classify games need to be produced for developers and operators. They argue that gambling themed games should be subject to the same policies and restrictions as gambling products even if they do not pay out money. Specifically, they suggest that such games should be labelled for adult use and not be advertised in ways that are likely to be attractive to children. Gambling practice games should be obliged to include information about responsible and problem gambling, and gambling themed games should allow players to set limits on participation time and expenditure, as well as to access their time and expenditure histories and to self-exclude (Gainsbury King, Abarbanel et al 2015).

In Sum:

Age restrictions would appear to be important to minimising the potential harms of gambling because young people have a greater disposition for risk-taking, and less financial experience particularly in complex environments (e.g. e-commerce) than older consumers (Blaszczynski 2014). However, if access to gambling opportunities was an important contributory factor to developing problem gambling then the prevalence rates in international contexts with stricter regulations should be lower. However, as the evidence presented in Section 4 (The Prevalence of Children and Young People's Problem Gambling) of this report demonstrates there is a consistent pattern of relatively high rates of problem gambling across a range of international contexts with variable legislative frameworks. This cast doubts on the significance of regulatory frameworks in influencing rates of problem gambling amongst young people. Indeed, the evidence from countries where young people's access to gambling is more tightly regulated than in the UK is that these regulations are difficult to enforce and that young people gamble illegally regardless of the law (Volberg et al 2010).

The problem of enforcement occurs because of the limitations of age verification controls: young people can often 'pass' as older than they are, particularly on-line if they have access to credit cards; and some operators/retailers turn a blind eye to breaches of the law. Indeed, 'testing boundaries' is a rite of passage that is part of the process of growing up. Enforcement is easier where gambling occurs in adult-only highly regulated venues (e.g. casinos, bars) and is harder to control where gambling opportunities are available in public unregulated locations and online. This is evidenced by the fact that in North America and Australia rates of under age casino and gaming machine play by young people are relatively low because these forms of gambling are only available in adult venues whereas rates of underage lottery and scratch card play are much higher because they are available in public locations. For example, in some states unattended

scratch card lottery vending machines are readily available to potential underage gamblers. Likewise, in the Nordic countries gambling machine play is one of the most common gambling activities amongst young people because these machines are in public locations (Williams et al. 2007).

Moreover, the Australian Productivity Commission's (2010) review of gambling industries suggests that the evidence based to inform policy making and the development of regulation is relatively poor. It identifies uncertainties about which gambling policies can effectively reduce harm and attributes this to insufficient policy-focused research as well as difficulties in genuinely testing the effectiveness of social policies (Australian Productivity Commission 2010). This suggests that there is a need for more research to address this lacunae as well as a greater exchange of ideas and co-operation between researchers, policy-makers, and legal professionals if more effective regulation is to be developed (Campbell et al 2011).

In the light of the prevalence of problem gambling among young people and the limited success of regulatory and enforcement problem gambling has been argued to be a potential public health issue – with young people the group at highest risk (e.g. Messerlian et al. 2004, Derevensky and Gillespie 2005, Orford 2005). The prevention and treatment of young people's problem gambling is explored in the next section.

9. The Prevention and Treatment of Young People's Problem Gambling

Despite the negative impacts of problem gambling which can stretch across the generations, there is little public awareness or concern about the extent, or potential risks, associated with underage gambling (Jacobs 2000). Indeed, recent research suggests that parents (Campbell et al. 2012), teachers (Derevensky, St-Pierre, Temcheff and Gupta 2014) and even mental health professionals (Temcheff, Derevensky et al. 2014) continue to show little concern that young people may be at increased risk of developing gambling problems compared with adults (Welte et al. 2008, Volberg et al. 2010, Shead, Walsh et al. 2011) despite academic recognition that this should be a cause for concern (Gupta and Deverenvsky 2014). Indeed, young people's gambling has been dubbed a 'hidden addiction' (Derevensky, Shek and Merrick 2011, Derevensky 2012) because their problems do not tend to become visible in the same way as adults. They do not lose houses because they are usually still living at home with their parents; they do not lose their jobs because they are normally still at school; and they do not have spouses who might pick up on emotional or physical signs of stress. As a consequence it can be

some time before problem behaviours and their consequences are recognised. Forrest and McHale (2012) have therefore developed a predictive model for teachers, social workers and health professionals which provides broad guidance to facilitate them to identify individual pupils who may be engaged in problem gambling. They recommend that a similar predictive model based on school-level and geographical variables needs to be developed at a macro level to enable schools where there is likely to be a prevalence of problem gambling to be identified and for specialist public health resources to be targeted. In addition, longitudinal studies have highlighted the importance of targeting education, prevention and intervention efforts at children and young people who are known to have ADHD and/or problems with impulse control (Clark et 2013).

Within educational contexts where children are subject to prevention and awareness programmes to address a range of 'risky' behaviours (e.g. bullying, smoking, alcohol use, substance use and so on), there is relatively little provision of information which is directed towards problem gambling (Campbell et al. 2011, Derevensky 2012, Ladouceur, Goulet and Vitaro 2013, Todirita and Lupu, 2013, Williams et al. 2012). A survey of parents' perceptions of problem gambling in Canada found that only 8.1 per cent of parents recalled their child ever having brought home information from school related to gambling prevention. Likewise only 9.7 per cent reported that their child had taken part in an educational programmes about the risks of gambling at school. In contrast, the majority stated that their children had received considerable prevention programmes or educational material in relation to other 'risky' behaviours such as sex (82.9 per cent), bullying (79.9 per cent), drug use (79.8 per cent), smoking (66.7 per cent), and alcohol (64.2 per cent). Parents identified that they would like to receive information about gambling themselves via school bulletins (57 per cent), brochures (46 per cent), and websites (42 per cent) (Campbell et al. 2011).

An on-line survey of teachers with pupils aged 12 to 18 (n=390) in Canada identified that most recognise that young people gamble, they are aware that gambling can be addictive, are familiar with warning signs for problem gambling. But they also regard gambling as the least serious issue facing young people compared with concerns such as drug use and school violence (Derevensky, St-Pierre et al. 2014, see also Graham et al. 2011, Sansanwal et al 2015). This despite the fact that over half (53 per cent) of the teachers had overheard students talk about gambling in the previous year and 38 per cent had seen students engage in gambling activities and most reported a lack of available resources and policies focused upon gambling in their

schools (Derevensky et al 2014). However this, and other studies, have also found that teachers are willing to receive training to help them identify problem gamblers (Derevensky, St-Pierre et al. 2014, Derevensky, St-Pierre, Temcheff and Gupta 2014). This is potentially significant because teachers spend significant amounts of time with young people on a daily basis and so have the potential to play an important role in identifying those with gambling problems and helping them to access support from appropriate services (Derevensky, St-Pierre et al. 2014).

Delfabbro, Lambos et al. (2009) observe that many students appear to have a limited knowledge of gambling odds or how to calculate probabilities. They recommend that by educating pupils to understand randomness and chance teachers can give students the skills to make informed decisions if they chose to gamble. Such interventions might be usefully targeted at young male gamblers given that research suggests they tend to prefer skill-based games and to have a misplaced understanding of their own gambling skills (Kristiansen 2014). For those already experiencing problems with gambling Delfabbro, Lambos et al. (2009) recommend using roleplaying or supervised interactive tasks based around chance outcomes where the pupils can receive feedback on their decisions and the outcomes under supervised conditions to teach them to recognise errors in their reasoning and to learn to use their knowledge to over-ride their emotions. As such greater emphasis needs to be put on raising teachers' awareness of gambling in teacher education training and in establishing prevention programmes to address gambling with young people similar to those used in relation to other 'risky' behaviours (Gupta and Derevensky 2014, Derevensky, St-Pierre et al. 2014). Indeed, Shead, Derevensky and Gupta (2010) argue that such initiatives need to go beyond basic risk prevention to also foster protective interventions for example helping children to acquire coping skills and develop alternative socialising strategies (Rahman et al. 2012, Gori et al. 2015).

Gambling has only been conceptualised as a public health issue for just over a decade (Messerlian et al. 2005). Korn and Shaffer (1999) first proposed adopting a public health framework to examine gambling from a population health, health promotion and human ecology perspective; including the assessment of the potential social costs and benefits of gambling upon communities. Messerlian et al (2004) argued that a public health model of gambling must involve (i) *De-normalising gambling* through strategies to encourage society to question and assess underage gambling. (ii) *Preventative policies* (e.g. public education) which might better equip young people with the skills to understand the potential negative impacts of gambling. For example, a Youth Gambling Prevention Model developed by Messerlian et al. (2005) recognised

a continuum of risk, identifying prevention objectives at each level of risk and the strategies required to achieve these objectives. (iii) *A harm reduction strategy* (including specific treatment programs aimed at young people) to reduce the risk of young people who gamble in an at risk manner from developing a gambling problem, and to diminish the potential negative consequences of gambling without making abstinence a goal (see for example Dickson et al. 2003).

Although public education campaigns are relatively common across most jurisdictions evidence from research with adults has suggested that they have very limited effectiveness if people are not explicitly asked to address the information or have no intrinsic interest in it (Turner et. al 2005). However, a recent review of prevention campaigns aimed at young people about problems other than gambling (e.g. smoking, drinking and drug use) identified that public service announcements featuring celebrities have been successful and may have potential to achieve similar outcomes in relation to underage gambling (Shead, Walsh et al. 2011). Research suggests that the most effective educational messages to reach young people are simple, nonjudgemental, and based on real-life stories which emotionally engage young audiences and demonstrate the negative consequences of gambling. Critical 'don't do it' style messages which have often characterised public health campaigns aimed at young people (e.g. sex, drugs and alcohol) - are not likely to be successful in changing young people's attitudes towards or gambling behaviour (Messerlian and Derevensky 2006). Moreover, Blaszczynski (2014) has observed that problem gamblers often have pre-existing vulnerabilities to making poor choices and impulsive decisions and so just presenting information to those young people with emergent problems is unlikely to make a significant difference to their future gambling behaviours.

On the basis of findings from a study about the influence of positive outcome expectancies on gambling behaviour (reported above), Gillespie et al. (2007b) argue that it is important that prevention messages for young people must address positive beliefs about gambling rather than merely focusing on promoting abstention. In particular, drawing on a harm minimisation paradigm they argue for the need to inform young people about how the long-term costs of gambling can become, and outweigh, the short-term benefits. They suggest that interventions to highlight the perceived benefits and costs of gambling in treatment plans might motivate young people to change their behaviour and encourage them to pursue similar benefits from other less harmful activities. They also recommend that gambling expectancy scales might be employed to assess the effectiveness of treatments (Gillespie et al. 2007b).Other studies have identified that

in order to treat young people's problem gambling it is important to consider any underlying psychological issues in order to achieve long term success (Gupta and Derevensky 2008, Felsher et al. 2010).

School-based prevention programmes to address problem gambling are relatively rare, although these are evident in some jurisdictions. In a review of such initiatives Williams et al (2012) identified that they tend to cover a wide range of issues including: providing information about the risks of addiction, explaining gambling statistics and gambling fallacies, and teaching strategies to develop personal esteem and resist peer pressure. They cite the following examples of such programmes: "Don't Bet On It" in South Australia for ages 6 to 9; "Gambling: Minimising Health Risks" in Queensland for grade 5 students; "Facing the Odds" in Louisiana for grades 5 to 8; "All Bets are Off" in Michigan for grades 7 and 8; "Kids Don't Gamble...Wanna 23 Bet" in Minnesota and Illinois for grades 3 to 8; "Youth Making Choices" for high school students in Ontario; "Count me Out" in Quebec for ages 8-17; the "Problem Gambling Prevention Program" in Florida for middle and high school students; and "Gambling: A Stacked Deck" in Alberta for grades 9-12' (Williams et al. 2012: 22-23).

To-date there have been relatively few evaluations of such initiatives (though see Williams et al. 2004, Williams et al 2010). For example, a before and after study in Ontario, Canada of a 60 minute programme produced by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health found that it significantly improved pupils' understanding of random chance, but did not produce any changes in their attitudes towards gambling or gambling behaviours (Turner, MacDonald, Bartoshuk, Zangeneh, 2008). Likewise, an evaluation of the "Don't Gamble Away our Future" (45 minute) programme which was run in primary, junior high, and high schools in Midwest US, observed that afterwards the pupils demonstrated significant improvements in their knowledge of gambling and its potential negative consequences (Taylor and Hillyard 2009). A more comprehensive high school curriculum intervention in Alberta, Canada (including 5 to 6 interactive lessons about gambling and related misconceptions, the causes of problem gambling and good decision making) found that 3 to 7 months after undertaking the programme pupils demonstrated: significantly improved understanding of gambling/problem gambling, better decision making, more negative attitudes towards gambling and there was a reduction in both the frequency of gambling and in problem gambling (Williams et al. 2004, Williams et al. 2010). On the basis of the existing, albeit limited, evidence base, Williams et al. (2012) suggest that the results of such programmes are encouraging, although they acknowledge that their effectiveness needs to be tracked over a longer time period. Moreover, they also recognise that evaluations of more comprehensive programmes to address other issues such as smoking, alcohol and drugs have tended to produce only small to modest positive effects in both the short and the long term. The Australian Productivity Commission (2010) also identified reservations about the benefits of school based gambling education observing that such programmes can sometimes unintentionally encourage the behaviours they aim to prevent. It concluded that governments should not extend school-based programmes without further thorough evaluation of existing initiatives.

Given the rapid increase in opportunities to gamble on-line – and that some research (Floros et al. 2013, Valentine and Hughes 2010) has shown that 'control' measures exercised by parents/relatives can fail to limit or prevent internet gambling – young people (as well as their parents, teachers and other practitioners) need education and guidance to help them cope with the specific risks associated with what Griffiths and Parke (2010) have called 'convenience gambling'. Likewise, the convergence of gambling and gaming activities suggests that public education campaigns are also needed to inform young people, parents and teachers about the potential risks associated with gambling themed games (Gainsbury King, Abarbanel et al 2015).

When it comes to the treatment of young people's gambling problems generalist youth services are often over-stretched and lack the resources/understanding to properly support gambling addiction; while the services of specialist problem gambling agencies are often not targeted at young people. Few underage problem gamblers present themselves for treatment at specialist centres (Gupta and Derevensky 2008). A number of studies (e.g. Griffiths 2001b, Derevensky, Gupta and Winters 2003, Hardoon, Derevensky and Gupta 2003, Chevalier and Griffiths 2004 and Gupta and Derevensky 2008) have suggested various reasons for why so few young people are enrolled on gambling addiction programmes compared to adults. These include young people's: fear of being identified; belief that they can control their own behaviour; belief in their invulnerability; guilt associated with their gambling problem; lack of recognition and acceptance of gambling problems despite self reports of high scores on gambling screens; reluctance to seek treatment in general; and negative perceptions of therapy. Other factors identified also include: the treatment of underlying problems (e.g. depression) which can reduce/resolve gambling problems; financial support by family members which can conceal gambling problems; and the location of treatment in sites such as hospitals or mental health facilities which may be perceived by young people as stigmatising (Gupta and Derevensky 2008).

In a review of treatment approaches for young people with gambling problems Gupta and Derevensky (2008) observe that there are relatively few empirically based treatment studies of young people and these are commonly based on very small sample sizes. Based on their own research and clinical experience they suggest that effective outreach programmes (employing posters and brochures distributed to schools as well as media campaigns and an internet site) provide an important mechanism through which to access young people needing treatment. This can have a snowball effect because young people who seek help often have social networks which include other problem gamblers whom they will then recommend for treatment. Moreover, given the importance of the internet and social media in the lives of young people on-line peer groups might offer an effective way of reaching and supporting young people, especially those who fear the stigma of seeking help off-line or are isolated geographically (Monaghan and Wood 2010, Floros et al. 2013). While a pilot study of such support found that the website received many visitors, very few young people actively engaged with the support offered which the researchers attributed to ineffective advertising (Monaghan and Wood 2010). More proactive dissemination strategies through social network sites and in game advertisements may have the potential to improve engagement (Floros et al. 2013).

As young people have relatively limited access to independent income Gupta and Derevensky (2008) argue that the provision of free, state treatment for young people is of fundamental importance. Their McGill University treatment paradigm is based on Jacob's (1986) General Theory of Addictions, and Blaszczynski et al's Pathways Model (Blaszczynski and Nower 2002, Nower and Blaszczynski 2004). Jacobs (1986) regards addiction as a dependent state acquired over time. He theorised that gambling enables people to escape from or block out negative feelings in their life and to foster positive or desired mood states. This positive mood state is gratifying or rewarding and so consequently is pursued by the gambler with increasing frequency. On the basis of clinical observation Blaszczynski and Nower (2002, and Nower and Blaszczynski 2004) identify three different types of pathological gamblers (behaviorially conditioned problem gamblers, emotionally vulnerable gamblers, and anti-social impulsivist problem gamblers) that are characterised by different etiologies and consequently require different types and durations of treatment. Gupta and Derevensky (2008: 276) draw on commonalities in these approaches which both accept that young problem gamblers have 'a combination of emotional and/or psychological distress coupled with a physiological predisposition towards impulsively seeking excitement'. Their treatment procedure begins with

an intake interview to collect information about the clients': gambling behaviours, familial situation and relationships, academic/work status, alcohol and drug use, presence of other risk taking behaviours, personality traits, expectations and personal goals, as well as an evaluation for clinical depression. A staff psychologist provides regular individual therapy and each client is given a page or mobile phone for emergency support. The goals of the therapy are to: understand motivations for gambling; analyse gambling episodes; identify gambling-free time; establish a baseline of gambling behaviour and encourage a decrease in gambling behaviour, address cognitive distortions; establish the underlying causes of stress and anxiety; evaluate and improve coping abilities; rebuild healthy interpersonal relationships; restructure free time; foster effective money management skills and relapse prevention (Gupta and Derevensky 2008).

Given the family environment (see Section 6: the Transmission of Patterns of Gambling) is increasingly recognised as an important influence on the later gambling behaviour of children and adolescents (Dowling et al., 2010, Williams et al. 2012) commentators have highlighted the need for treatment programmes to include family-based therapy and to address family dynamics rather than only focusing on the gambler per se (Abbott et al 1995, Orford 1994), although such programmes are currently limited. An Australian large-scale longitudinal study (n=2328) of the risks and protective factors for problem gambling in young adulthood by Scholes-Balog et al (2014) identified a clear relationship between young people's alcohol use and problem gambling and the nature of the family environment in which they had grown up. In doing so it, highlighted the significance of effective parenting practices and a rewarding family environment in protecting against negative influences linked with the development of problem gambling by young people (see also Dowling et al 2010). Such findings demonstrate that community intervention strategies to strengthen families and to educate them about how to create positive domestic environments are likely to be effective in addressing problem gambling by young people (Dowling et al. 2010, Scholes-Balog et al 2014). Moreover, Dowling et al. (2010) draw attention to the need to target primary, secondary and tertiary intervention strategies at children and young people who are growing up in problem gambling families as they are most at risk of developing gambling problems.

To-date, the UK lags behind the other countries reviewed in this report in terms of developing prevention, harm reduction and treatment programmes to support young problem gamblers in <u>systematic</u> ways (notwithstanding, the existence of a national gambling helpline, GamCare and Gordon House Association, a specialist residential facility for problem gamblers: see Griffiths,

Bellringer et al. 2001, Griffiths 2001b). There is a need for more government departments to work together effectively because problem gambling crosses policy domains including: public health, criminal justice, education, and culture, media, and sport.

10. Recommendations for Future Research

The evidence of this review is that:

- 1. Online gambling opportunities are now available through multiple platforms (e.g. desk top computers, laptops, tablets and smart phones) and gambling applications have also emerged within other applications such as social networking sites and gaming sites, as a consequence drawing young people who were not initially online with the intention of gambling to do so. Further research is therefore needed to continue to explore the impact of technological change on the prevalence and patterns of young people's gambling; and to monitor whether social gaming (gambling-style games available through social network platforms and gaming websites) should be subject to legal regulation.
- 2. Given that the existing empirical evidence about the relationships between 'gambling-like' activities and 'real' gambling is relatively limited in scope/scale and inconclusive there is a need for more research to explore how young people understand and experience both types of activity and whether they are are sufficiently aware of the differences and associated risks.
- 3. The proliferation of gambling advertisements highlights the importance of research to examine the impact of various types of advertising on young people's attitudes toward gambling and responsible gambling and actual behaviour.
- 4. Further longitudinal research is needed to test the evidence of recent findings which show that young people may grow out of gambling problems as they get older because this trend counters the findings of an earlier body of non-longitudinal research which appeared to show that the younger the age at which problem gambling developed the greater the consequences and severity of gambling in later life
- 5. There is an extensive body of international evidence which demonstrates the role of parents in introducing children to gambling and normalising this activity as part of banal family activities/histories. Yet, much less is understood about the complexity of wider family relationships, parenting practices and socio-demographics which may influence gambling behaviours. In particular, research is needed to investigate the role of grandparents and siblings in influencing young people's gambling, as well as the gendered nature of parental attitudes and behaviours.

- 6. Preliminary evidence suggests that young people from minority ethnic groups are more likely to gamble and to become problem gamblers than those from majority groups Further research is needed to understand these patterns as well as to explore cultural and religious differences in patterns of gambling and problem gambling.
- 7. Parents, teachers, schools and even mental health professionals show little concern that young people are at increased risk of developing gambling problems compared to adults. There is relatively little public information about, or awareness of, the potential risks associated with underage gambling in relation to other risk taking behaviours such as alcohol and drugs. As such more research is required to understand young problem gamblers' help-seeking strategies (on-line and off-line) and to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of prevention programmes though the long-term evaluation of school education programmes similar to those used in relation to other 'risky' behaviours.

About the Study

This review was based on a thorough search of the following data sources:

- Electronic bibliographic databases e.g.: Applied Social Science Index and Abstracts; International Bibliography of Social Sciences; Sociological Abstracts, Social ScSearch, Social Services Abstracts, Dissertation Abstracts, CareData, psyInfo, Social Work Abstracts, NHSEED etc.
- **Reference lists:** taken from primary review articles and also collated through contact with other known scholars/professionals working in this field.
- The Internet: employing on-line search engines such as Web of Science, Ingenta, BIDS, Google scholar.
- Grey literatures: These are non-academic publications (i.e. non peer reviewed work) including research reports or briefings by government departments and bodies, and non-governmental organisations (for example publications by: GamCare, Gamblers' Anonymous, The Gordon House Association, the UK Forum on Young People and Gambling, the Joseph Rowntree Foundation etc).
- International policy: of comparable international jurisdictions in terms of both legislation/policy and other official government documentation relating to children and the regulatory frameworks in place to protect children.
- Case study initiatives: evidence from the evaluation of specific research projects

References

Abbott, D., Cramer, S. and Sherrets S. (1995) Pathological gambling and the family: Practice implications. *Families in Society* 76: 213-219.

Abbott, M. (2001) What Do we Know about Gambling and Problem Gambling in New Zealand?Report Number 7 of the New Zealand Gaming Survey.Department of Internal Affairs,Wellington,NewZealand.Available:www.dia.govt.nz/Pubforms.nsf/URL/Report7.pdf/\$file/Report7.pdf

Abbott, M., Volberg, R., Bellringer, M. and Reith, G. (2004) *A Review of Research on Aspects on Problem Gambling* Responsibility in Gaming Trust. Available: www.rigt.org.uk/documents/a_review_of_reserach_on_aspects_of_problem_gambling_auckland _report_2004.pdf

Adlaf, E., Paglia-Boak, A., and Ialomiteanu, A. (2006) Underage gambling in Ontario casinos. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 16: 36-53

Advertising Standards Association (2007) Compliance Survey. ASA, London.

Age-Restricted Products Review Group (2010). *Better Regulation of Age Restricted Products: A Retail View*. Birmingham: Local Better Regulation Office.

Aries, P. (1962) Centuries of Childhood. Vintage Press, New York.

Ashworth J, Doyle N. (2000) *Under 16s and the National Lottery 1999*. London, BMRB Social Research.

Australian Gaming Council (2007) *New Directions: Gambling Education and Financial Literacy* for Young People – discussion paper. Melbourne: Australian Gaming Council. Available: <u>www.austgamingcouncil.org.au</u>

Barham, R. (1987) *Teenage Use of Amusement Arcades in Bognor Regis*. WSIHE, Bognor Regis.

Barmaki, R. (2010) Gambling as a social problem: on the social condition of gambling. *Canada Journal of Youth Studies* 13: 47-64.

Barnes, G. M., Welte, J. W., Hoffman, J. H., and Dintcheff, B. A. (2005) Shared predictors of youthful gambling, substance use, and delinquency. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 19: 165–174.

Becoña, E., Labrador, F., Echeburua, E., Ochoa, E., and Vallejo, M.A. (1995) 'Slot machine gambling in Spain: an important and new social problem. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 11: 263-287.

Bednarz, J., Delfabbro, P., and King, D. (2013) Practice makes poorer: Practice gambling modes and their effect on real-play in simulated roulette. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 11: 387-395.

Bergevin, T., Gupta, R., Derevensky, J., and Kaufman, F. (2006). Adolescent gambling: Understanding the role of stress and coping. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 22: 195–208.

Betancourt, L.M., Brodsky, N.L., Brown, C.A., McKenna, K.A., Giannetta, J.M., Yang, W., Romer, D. and Hurt, H. (2012) Is executive cognitive function associated with youth gambling? *Journal of Gambling Studies* 28:225–238.

Binde, P. (2014) *Gambling Advertising: a Critical Research Review*. Report prepared for the Responsible Gambling Trust, London. Available: http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk /user_uploads/binde_rgt_report_gambling_advertising_2014_final_color_115p.pdf

Blaszczynski, A. (2001) *Harm Minimisation Strategies in Gambling: an Overview of International Initiatives and Interventions* Melbourne: Australian Gaming Council.

Blaszczynski, A., and Nower, L. (2002) A pathways model of problem gambling *Addiction* 97: 487-499.

Blaszczynski, A. Parke, A., Parke, J. and Rigbye, J. (2014) *Operator-Based Approaches to Harm Minimisation in Gambling: Summary, Review and Future Directions.* London: The Responsible Gambling Trust

Blinn-Pike, L., Worthy, S. L., & Jonkman, J. N. (2010) Adolescents gambling: A review of an emerging field of research. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 47: 223-236.

Bostock, W.W. (2005) Australia's gambling policy: motivations, implications and options. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 13: 1-16

Bramley, S. and Gainsbury, S. (2015) The role of auditory features within slot-themed social casino games and online slot machine games. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 31: 1735-1751.

Breyer, J.L., Botzet, A.M., Winters, K.D., Stinchfield, R.D., August, G. and Realmuto, G. (2009) Young adult gambling behaviors and their relationship with the persistence of ADHD. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 25: 227–238.

British Medical Association (2007) *Gambling Addiction and its Treatment within the NHS: a Guide for Healthcare Professionals*. BMA, London.

Brunelle, G.A., Leclerc, N., Dufour M., Cousineau, M. (2009) Comparison of the profiles of young non gamblers, gamblers and internet gamblers relative to psychological distress, severity of substances use and impulsiveness/risk taking. 8th Annual Conference of Alberta Gaming Research, Banff Center, Alberta, March..

Buckle, J.L., Dwyer, S.C., Duffy, J., Brown K.L. and N.D. Pickett (2013) Personality factors associated with problem gambling behaviour in university students. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 28

Campbell, C., Derevensky, J., Meerkamper, E., and Cutajar, J. (2011) Parents' perceptions of adolescent gambling: A Canadian national study *Journal of Gambling Studies* 25: 36-53

Campbell, C., Derevensky, J., Meerkamper, E., and Cutajar, J. (2012) The influence of cultural background on parental perceptions of adolescent gambling behaviour: A Canadian study. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 10: 537–550.

Carran M. and Griffiths, M. (2015) Gambling and social gambling: An exploratory study of young people's perceptions and behaviour. *Aloma* 33: 101-113.

Chevalier, S. and Griffiths, M. (2004) Why don't adolescents turn up for gambling treatment (revisited)? *Journal of Gambling Issues* 11 Available: <u>http://jgi.camh.net/doi/abs/10.4309/jgi.2004.11.4</u>

Ciarrocchi, J.W., and Hohmann, A.A. (1989) The family environment of married male pathological gamblers, alcoholics and dually addicted gamblers *Journal of Gambling Behavior* 5: 283-291.

Clark, C., Nower, L. and Walker, D.M. (2013) The relationship of ADHD symptoms to gambling behaviour in the USA: results from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *International Gambling Studies* 13: 37-15.

Cook, S., Turner, N.E., Ballon, B, Paglia-Boak, A., Murray, R., Adlaf, E.M., Ilie, G., den Dunnen, W. and Mann, R.E. (2015) Problem gambling among Ontario students: Associations with substance abuse, mental health problems, suicide attempts, and delinquent behaviours. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 31:1121–1134.

Currie, S. R., Hodgins, D. C., Casey, D. M., el-Guebaly, N., Smith, G.J., Williams, R.J., Schopflocher, D.P. and Wood, R.T. (2011) Examining the predictive validity of low-risk gambling limits with longitudinal data. *Addiction* 107: 400–406.

Delfabbro P. and King, D. (2011) Adolescent gambling in metropolitan Darwin: prevalence, correlates and social influences. *Gambling Research* 23: 3-23.

Delfabbro, P., King, D. and Griffiths, M. (2014) From adolescent to adult gambling: An analysis of longitudinal gambling patterns in South Australia. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 30: 547-563.

Delfabbro, P., Lahn, J. and Grabosky, P. (2005a) *Adolescent Gambling in the ACT. Canberra, ACT*, Australian National University Centre for Gambling Research

Delfabbro, P., Lahn, J. and Grabosky, P. (2005b) Further evidence concerning the prevalence of adolescent gambling and problem gambling in Australia: a study of the ACT *International Gambling Studies* 5: 209-228.

Delfabbro, P., Lambos, C., King, D., and Puglies, S. (2009) Knowledge and beliefs about gambling in Australian secondary school students and their implications for education strategies. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 25:523–539.

Delfabbro, P.H. and Thrupp, L. (2003) The social determinants of youth gambling in South Australian adolescents *Journal of Adolescence* 26: 313-30.

Delfabbro, P.H., Winefield, A.H., and Anderson, S. (2009) Once a gambler – always a gambler: Longitudinal analysis of adolescent gambling patterns. *International Gambling Studies* 9: 151– 164.

Derevensky. J.L. (2011) Internet gambling and problem gambling among 13 to 18 year old adolescents in Iceland. *International Journal of IVIental Health and Addiction* 91: 257-263.

Derevensky, J.L (2012) *Teen Gambling: Understanding a Growing Epidemic*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishing, New York.

Derevensky, J.L. Gainsbury, S., Gupta, R. and Ellery, M. (2013) *Play-for-Fun/Social Casino Gambling: An Examination of our Current Knowledge.* Manitoba: Manitoba Gambling Research Program.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gillespie, M. (2005) Keynote address: gambling in Canada *ecommunity*. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 3: 3-14.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, J, (1999) Youth gambling: a new issue for school psychologists *Nova Scotia Psychologist* 12: 8-11.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2000) Prevalence estimates of adolescent gambling: A comparison of SOGS-RA, DSM-IV-J and the G.A. 20 questions. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 227-251.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R., (2004a) Adolescents with gambling problems: a review of current knowledge *e-Gambling: the Electronic Journal of Gambling Issues*, 10: 119-140.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2004b) Adolescents with Gambling Problems: A Synopsis of Our Current Knowledge. *Journal of Gambling Problems*, 10: Available: http://jgi.camh.net/doi/full/10.4309/jgi.2004.10.3

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2006) Measuring gambling problems among adolescents: current status and future directions. *International Gambling Studies* 6: 201-215.

Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2007) Internet gambling amongst adolescents: a growing concern. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 5: 93-101.

Derevensky, J.L., Gupta, R. and Cioppa, G.D. (1996) A developmental perspective of gambling behaviour in children and adolescents. *Journal of Gambling Studies*: 12, 49-65.

Derevensky, J.L., Gupta, R., and McBride, J. (2006) Internet gambling among youth: a cause for concern. Presentation at the *Global Remote and E-Gambling Research Institute Conference* Amsterdam, Netherlands. 31 August-1 September.

Derevensky, J. L., Gupta, R., Messerlian, C., and Mansour, S. (2009) *The Impact of Gambling Advertisements on Child and Adolescent Behaviors: A Qualitative Analysis*. McGill University.

Derevensky, J.L., Gupta, R. and Winters, K. (2003) Prevalence rates of youth gambling problems: are the current rates inflated? *Journal of Gambling Studies* 19: 405-25.

Derevensky, J. L., Pratt, L. M., Hardoon, K. K., & Gupta, R. (2007) Gambling problems and features of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among children and adolescents. *Journal of Addiction Medicine* 1:165–172.

Derevensky, J.L, Shek, D., & Merrick, J. (2011) Youth Gambling: The Hidden Addiction.De Gruyter, Berlin.

Derevensky, J.L, Sklar, A., Gupta, R., and Messerlian, C. (2010) An empirical study examining the impact of gambling advertisements on adolescent gambling attitudes and behaviors. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 8:21–34.

Derevensky J.L., St-Pierre, R.A., Temcheff, C.E. and Gupta, R. (2014) Teacher awareness and attitudes regarding adolescent risky behaviours: Is adolescent gambling perceived to be a problem? *Journal of Gambling Studies* 30: 435–451.

Desai, R.A., Krishnan-Sarin, S., Cavallo, D. and Potenza, M.N. (2010) Video-gaming among high school students: health correlates, gender differences, and problematic gaming. *Pediatrics* 126: 1414-1424

DiCicco-Bloom, B., and Romer, D. (2011) Poker, sports betting, and less popular alternatives: Status, friendship networks, and male adolescent gambling. *Youth and Society* 44: 141–70.

Dickinson, P. and Sinkinson, M. (2003) *When Is it Not a Game? A Health Education Resource for Secondary Schools*. Auckland: Problem Gambling Foundation of New Zealand.

Dickson, L., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2002a) The prevention of youth gambling problems: a conceptual model *Journal of Gambling Studies* 18: 97-160.

Dickson, L., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta R. (2002b) Youth gambling problems: a harm reduction prevention model, *Addiction Research and Theory* 12: 305-316.

Dickson, L., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta R (2003) *Youth Gambling Problems: The Identification of Risk and Protective Factors.* Report prepared for the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre.

Docherty, C., Frost, A., Transom, A. and Cundall, L. (2004) *Problem Gambling Foundation of New Zealand Youth Education Project* Auckland: Youth Education Project Team of Problem Gambling Foundation of New Zealand.

Dowling, N., Jackson, A. C., Thomas, S. A., & Frydenberg, E. (2010) *Children at Risk of Developing Problem Gambling*. Gambling Research Australia, Melbourne.

Dussault, D., Brendgen, M., Vitaro, F., Wanner, B. and Tremblay, R.E. (2011) Longitudinal links between impulsivity, gambling problems and depressive symptoms: a transactional model from adolescence to early adulthood. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 52: 130–138.

Edgerton, J.D., Melnyk, T.S., and Roberts, L.W. (2015) An exploratory study of multiple distinct gambling trajectories in emerging adults. *Journal of Youth Studies* 18: 743-762.

Ellenbogen, S., Derevensky, J. and Gupta, R. (2007) Gender differences among adolescents with gambling-related problems, *Journal of Gambling Studies* 23: 133-143.

European Commission (2014) Press release: Gambling services: Commission refers Sweden to Court for lack of compliance with EU law, Brussels, Published online 16 October 2014: http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-14-1150_en.htm

Fabian, T. (1995) Pathological gambling: A comparison of gambling at German-style slot machines and "classical" gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 11: 249-263

Faregh, N. and Derevensky, J.L. (2011a) A comparative latent class analysis of endorsement profiles of DSM-IV diagnostic criteria for problem gambling among adolescents from a community and a treatment sample. *Addiction Research and Theory* 19: 323–333.

Faregh, N. and Derevensky, J.L. (2011b) Gambling behavior among adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 27: 243-256.

Felsher, J., Derevensky, J. and Gupta, R. (2003) Parental influences and social modelling of youth lottery participation. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 13: 361-377.

Felsher, J., Derevensky, J. and Gupta, R. (2004) Lottery playing amongst youth: implications for prevention and social policy. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 20: 127-153.

Felsher, J., Derevensky, J. and Gupta, R. (2010) Young Adults with Gambling Problems: The impact of childhood maltreatment. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 8: 545-556.

Fisher S. (1992) Measuring pathological gambling in children: the case of fruit machines in the UK. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 8: 263-285.

Fisher, S. (1993a) The pull of the fruit machine: A sociological typology of young players. *Sociological Review* 41: 446-474.

Fisher, S. (1993b) Gambling and pathological gambling in adolescents. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 277-288.

Fisher, S. (1995) Adolescent slot machine dependency and delinquency: questions on a question of methodology. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 11: 303-10.

Fisher, S. (1998) *Gambling and Problem Gambling Among Young People in England and Wales*. University of Plymouth, Plymouth.

Fisher, S. (1999) A prevalence study of gambling and problem gambling in British adolescents. *Addiction Research* 7: 509-538.

Fisher, S. (2000) Developing the DSM-IV-MR-J criteria to identify adolescent problem gambling in non clinical populations. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 8: 263-285.

Floros, G. D., Siomos, K., Fisoun, V., and Geroukalis, D. (2013) Adolescent online gambling: The impact of parental practices and correlates with online activities. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 29: 131-150.

Forrest, D. and McHale, I. G. (2012) Gambling and problem gambling amongst young adolescents in Great Britain. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 28: 607-622.

Forrest, D. K, McHale, I. and Parke, J. (2009), Appendix 5: Full report of statistical regression analysis. In Ipsos MORI (2009) British Survey of Children, the National Lottery and Gambling 2008-09: Report of a quantitative survey.

Forrest, D. and Wardle, H. (2011) Gambling in Asian communities in Great Britain. *Asian Journal of Gambling Issues and Public Health* 2: 2–16.

Fröberg, F. (2006) *Gambling Among Young People: A Knowledge Review*. Stockholm: Swedish National Institute of Public Health. Also available at: <u>www.fhi.se</u>

Fuentes, D., Tavares, H., Artes, R., and Gorenstein, C. (2006) Self-reported and neuropsychological measures of impulsivity in pathological gambling. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society* 12: 907–912.

Gainsbury, S., Hing., N, Delfabbro, P, Dewar, G. and King, D.L. (2014) An exploratory study of interrelationships between social casino gaming, gambling, and problem gambling. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 13: 136-153.

Gainsbury, S., King, D., Abarbanel, B., Delfabbro, P. and Hing, N. (2015) *Convergence of Gambling and Gaming in Digital Media.* Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation, Victoria, Australia. Available: <u>https://www.responsiblegambling.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/</u>pdf_file/0003/25572/Gainsbury_convergence_of_gambling_and_gaming_2015.pdf

Gainsbury, S., King, D., Delfabbro, P., Hing, N., Russell, A., Blaszczynski, A. and Derevensky, J. (2015) *The Use of Social Media in Gambling*, Gambling Research Australia, Available: http://www.gamblingresearch.org.au/resources/d06679ec-3577-4cb0-867c-594ce741dbf6/grasocialmediareport.pdf

Gainsbury, S., Russell A., Hing, N., Wood, R., Lubman, D. and Blaszczynski, A. (2015) How the internet is changing gambling. Findings from an Australian prevalence survey. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 31: 1-15.

Gambino, B., Fitzgerald, R., Shaffer, H., Renner, J. and Courtnage, P. (1993) Perceived family history of problem gambling and scores on SOGS. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 169-184.

Gambling Commission (2007) *Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice*. Gambling Commission, Birmingham. Available: <u>http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Publications-consultations/LCCP.aspx</u>

Gambling Commission (2014) Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act, Available: http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Online/About-the-remote-gambling-industry/Gambling-licensing-and-advertising-act/Gambling-licensing-and-advertising-act.aspx

Gambling Commission (2015) Social Gaming, Available: http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/Social-gaming---January-2015.pdf

GeminiResearch(2007)TheNorwayPapers.Available:http://www.geminiresearch.com/The_Norway_Papers

Gerstein, D.R., Volberg, R.A., Harwood, H., Christiansen E.M. et al. (1999) *Gambling Impact and Behavior Study*. Report to the National Gambling Impact Study Commission, Chicago.

Gillespie, M., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2007a) Adolescent problem gambling: developing a gambling expectancy instrument *Journal of Gambling Issues* 19: 51-68.

Gillespie, M., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2007b) The utility of outcome expectancies in the prediction of adolescent gambling behaviour *Journal of Gambling Issues* 19: 69-85.

Gori, M., Potente, R., Pitino A., Scalese, M., Bastiani, L. and Molinaro S. (2015) Relationship Between Gambling severity and attitudes in adolescents: findings from a population-based study. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 31:717–740

Graham, A., Phelps, R., Maddison, C., and Fitzgerald, R. (2011) Supporting children's mental health in schools: Teacher views. *Teachers and Teaching* 17: 479–496.

Grant, J.E. and Kim, S.W. (2002) Gender differences in pathological gamblers seeking medication treatment *Comprehensive Psychiatry* 43: 56-62.

Grant Kalischuk, R., Nowatzi, N., Cardwell, K., Klein, K. and Solowoniuk, J. (2006) Problem gambling and its impact on families: a literature review *International Gambling Studies* 6: 31-60.

Griffiths, M.D. (1990a) Addiction to fruit machines: a preliminary study among young males *Journal of Gambling Studies* 6: 113-126.

Griffiths, M.D. (1990b) The acquisition, development and maintenance of fruit machine gambling in adolescence *Journal of Gambling Studies* 6: 193-204.

Griffiths, M.D. (1990c) The cognitive psychology of gambling *Journal of Gambling Studies* 6: 31-42.

Griffiths, M.D. (1991) Amusement machine playing in childhood and adolescence: A comparative analysis of video games and fruit machines, *Journal of Adolescence* 14: 53-73.

Griffiths, M.D. (1993) Fruit machine addiction in adolescence: A case study. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 387-399.

Griffiths, M.D. (1994a) Co-existent fruit machine addiction and solvent abuse: a cause for concern? *Journal of Adolescence* 17: 491-498.

Griffiths, M.D. (1994b) An exploratory study of gambling cross addictions. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 10: 371-384.

Griffiths, M.D. (1995) Adolescent Gambling. Routledge, London.

Griffiths, M. (1996) Gambling on the internet: a brief note. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 12: 471-474.

Griffiths, M.D. (1997a) Selling hope: The psychology of the National Lottery. *Psychological Review* 23: 26-29.

Griffiths, M.D. (1997b) The National Lottery and scratchcards. *The Psychologist: Bulletin of the British Psychological Society* 10: 23-26.

Griffiths, M.D. (2000) Scratchcard gambling among adolescent males. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 79-91.

Griffiths, M.D. (2001a) Internet gambling: preliminary results of the first UK prevalence study. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 5 Available: http://jgi.camh.net/doi/abs/10.4309/jgi.2001.5.8

Griffiths, M.D. (2001b) Why don't adolescent gamblers seek treatment? *Electronic Journal of Gambling Issues* 5 Available: http://jgi.camh.net/doi/abs/10.4309/jgi.2001.5.6

Griffiths, M.D. (2002) *Gambling and Gaming Addictions in Adolescence*. British Psychological Society/Blackwells, Leicester.

Griffiths, M.D. (2003) Internet gambling: issues, concerns and recommendations. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior* 6: 557-568.

Griffiths, M.D. (2005) Does gambling advertising contribute to problem gambling? *eCommunity: International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction* 2: 15-25.

Griffiths, M.D. (2009) Great Britain in Meyer, G., Hayer T. and Griffiths, M.D. (eds.) *Problem Gaming in Europe: Challenges, Preventions and Interventions*. Springer, New York.

Griffiths, M.D. (2010a) Gaming in social networking sites: A growing concern? *World Online Gambling Law Report* 9: 12-13.

Griffiths, M. (2010b) The role of parents in the development of gambling behaviour in adolescents *Education & Health* 28: 51-54.

Griffiths, M.D. (2011) Gaming Convergence: Further legal issues and psychosocial impact. *Gaming Law Review and Economics* 15: 461-464.

Griffiths, M.D., Bellringer, P., Farrell-Roberts and Freestone, F. (2001) Treating problem gamblers: a residential therapy approach. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 17: 161-169.

Griffiths, M.D. and Cooper, G. (2003) Online therapy: implications for problem gamblers and clinicians *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling* 31: 113-135.

Griffiths, M.D. and Parke, J. (2002) The social impact of internet gambling *Social Science Computer Review* 20: 312-320.

Griffiths, M.D. and Parke, J. (2010) Adolescents gambling on the internet: a review. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health* 22: 58-75.

Griffiths, M. and Sutherland, I. (1998) Adolescent gambling and drug use *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology* 8: 423-427.

Griffiths, M., Wardle, H., Orford, J., Sproston, K., and Erens, B. (2008) Internet gambling: a secondary analysis of findings from the 2007 British Gambling Prevalence Survey, *Gambling Commission*, Nottingham

Griffiths, M., Wardle, H., Orford, J., Sproston, K., and Erens, B. (2009) Sociodemographic correlates of Internet gambling: Findings from the 2007 British gambling prevalence survey. *CyberPsychology & Behavior* 12: 199–202.

Griffiths M. and Wood R. (2000) Risk factors in adolescence: the case of gambling, videogame playing and the internet *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 199-225.

Griffiths, M. and Wood, R. (2007) Adolescent internet gambling: preliminary results of a national survey. *Education and Health* 25: 23-27.

Gupta, R. and Derevensky, J.L. (1997) Familial and social influences on juvenile gambling behaviour. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 13: 179-191.

Gupta, R. and Derevensky, J.L. (1998a) Adolescent gambling behaviour: A prevalence study and examination of the correlates associated with problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 14: 319-345.

Gupta, R. and Derevensky J.L. (1998b) An empirical examination of Jacobs' General Theory of Addictions: Do adolescent gamblers fit the theory? *Journal of Gambling Studies* 14: 17-49.

Gupta, R. and Derevensky, J.L. (2008) A treatment approach for adolescents with gambling problems in Zangeneh, M., Blaszczynski, A. and Turner, N. (eds.) *In the Pursuit of Winning: Problem Gambling, Theory, Research and Treatment.* Springer Books, New York. pp. 271–290.

Gupta. R., and Derevensky, J. L. (2014) Reflections on underage gambling. *Responsible Gambling Review* 1: 37-50.

Gupta, R. Nower I., Derevensky, J.L., Blaszczynski, A., Faregh, N., and Temcheff, C. (2013) Problem gambling in adolescents: An examination of the pathways model. Journal of Gambling Studies 29: 575–588.

Hardoon, K. and Derevensky J.L. (2002) Child and adolescent gambling behavior: Current knowledge. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 7: 263-281.

Hardoon, K., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, J. (2003) Empirical vs. perceived measures of gambling severity: Why adolescents don't present themselves for treatment *Addictive Behaviors* 28: 933-946.

Hardoon, K., Gupta, R. and Derevensky J.L. (2004) Psychosocial variables associated with adolescent gambling. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 18: 170-179.

Harris, J., & Hagan, H. (2012) *Gaming Law: Jurisprudential Comparisons*. London: Thomson Reuters.

Hebdige, D. (1988) Hiding in the Light: On Images and Things. Routledge, London.

Hellstrom, C., Nilsson, K. W., Leppert, J., & Aslund, C. (2012) Influences of motives to play and time spend gaming on the negative consequences of adolescents' online computer gaming. *Computers in Human Behavior* 28: 1379-1387.

Hing, N. (2002) The emergence of problem gambling as a corporate social issue in Australia *International Gambling Studies* 2: 101-122.

Hood, C. and Parke, A. (2015) Differences in parental attitudes and tolerance of child exposure to and participation in gambling, alcohol and nicotine use. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 13: 497-505.

Huang, J-H., Durand, F., Jacobs, E and Derevensky, J.L. (2010) Sexual risk-taking behaviors, gambling, and heavy drinking among U.S. college athletes. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 39: 706–713.

Huxley, J. and Carroll, D. (1992) A survey of fruit machine gambling in adolescents. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 8: 167-179.

Ipsos MORI (2009) British Survey of Children, The National Lottery And Gambling 2008–09: Report of a Quantitative Survey. London: National Lottery Commission.

Ipsos MORI (2011) Underage Gambling In England and Wales: A Research Study Among 11– 16 Year Olds on Behalf of The National Lottery Commission. London: National Lottery Commission.

Ipsos MORI (2013) A Young People's Omnibus 2013. A Research Study on Gambling Amongst 11-16 Year Old on Behalf of National Lottery Commission. London: National Lottery Commission.

Ipsos MORI (2015) The Prevalence of Underage Gambling A Research Study on Gambling Amongst 11-15 Year Old on Behalf of The Gambling Commission. Birmingham: Gambling Commission.

Jackson, A. (1999) The Impacts of Gambling on Adolescents & Children. A Report to the Victorian Department of Human Services Office of the Family Melbourne: University of Melbourne Problem Gambling Research Program.

Jacobs, D.F. (1986) A general theory of addiction: a new theoretical model *Journal of Gambling Behavior* 2: 15-31.

77

Jacobs, D.F. (2000) Juvenile gambling in North America: an analysis of long term trends and future prospects *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 119-151.

Jacobs, D.F. (2004) Youth gambling in North America: Long term trends, future prospects in Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, J, (eds) *Gambling Problems in Youth: Developmental and Applied Perspectives*. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York pp1-26.

James, A. (1986) Learning to belong: the boundaries of adolescence in Cohen, A.P. (ed.) *Symbolising Boundaries: Identity and Diversity in British Cultures*. Manchester University Press, Manchester.

James, A. (1993) *Childhood Identities: Self and Social Relationships in the Experience of the Child*. Manchester University Press, Manchester.

Johansson, A., Grant, J. E., Kim, S. W., Odlaug, B. L., and Gotestam, K. G. (2009) Risk factors for problematic gambling: A critical literature review. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 25: 67–92.

Jones, M. and Jones, D. (2000) The contagious nature of anti-social behaviour *Criminology* 38: 25-47.

Kim, H.S., Wohl, M., Gupta, R. and Dervensky, J. (2014). *Play-for-fun to Play-for-pay: Identifying factors that transition people from social network gaming to online gambling.* Final Report to the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Center, 43 pp.

King, D.L., and Delfabbro, P.H. (2010) Should Australia have an R18bclassification for video games? *Youth Studies Australia* 29: 9–17.

King, D. L., Delfabbro, P. H., and Griffiths, M.D. (2010a) The convergence of gambling and digital media: Implications for gambling in young people. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 26: 175-187.

King, D.L., Delfabbro, P.H., and Griffiths, M.D. (2010b) Video game structural characteristics: A new psychological taxonomy. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 8: 90–106.

King, D. L., Delfabbro, P.H., and Griffiths, M.D. (2011) The role of structural characteristics in problematic video game play: An empirical study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 9: 320-333.

King, D.L., Delfabbro, P.H., and Griffiths, M.D. (2012) Clinical interventions for technology-based problems: Excessive Internet and video game use. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly* 26: 1–14

King, D.L., Ejova, A. and Delfabbro, P.H. (2012) Illusory control, gambling and video gaming: An investigation of regular gamblers and video game players. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 28: 421-435.

Korn, D. and Shaffer, H. (1999) Gambling and the health of the public: adopting a public health perspective *Journal of Gambling Studies* 15: 289-365.

Kristiansen, S., and Frederiksen, A. (2008) *Internet Gambling among Danish Adolescents*. Research Report, Department of Sociology, Social Work and Organisation, Aalborg University.

Kristiansen, S., Jensen S.M., and Trabjerg, M.C. (2014) Youth gambling as risky business: An examination of risk perception and perception of skill and luck among Danish adolescents *Journal of Gambling Issues*: http://dx.doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2014.29.7

Kristiansen, S., Trabjerg, M.C. and Reith, G. (2015) Learning to gamble: early gambling experiences among young people in Denmark. *Journal of Youth Studies* 18: 133-150.

Ladd, G.T. and Petry, N.M. (2002) Gender differences among pathological gamblers seeking treatment. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology* 10: 302-309.

Ladouceur, R. (1996) The prevalence of pathological gambling in Canada. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 12: 129-42.

Ladouceur, R., Dubé, D. and Bujold, A. (1994) Prevalence of pathological gamblers and related problems among college students in the Quebec metropolitan area *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 39: 289-293.

Ladouceur, R., Ferland, F., Côté, M.-A., and Vitaro, F. (2004) Teachers' knowledge and training needs regarding youth gambling. *School Psychology International* 25: 472–479.

Ladouceur, R.,Goulet, A.,& Vitaro,F. (2013) Prevention programmes for youth gambling: A review of the empirical evidence. *International Gambling Studies*,13: 141-159.

Ladouceur, R. and Mireault, C. (1988) Gambling behaviours among high school students in the Quebec area *Journal of Gambling Behaviour* 4: 3-12.

Lang, A.M. and Randall, B.A. (2013) Intergenerational transmission of gambling: links between young adult and perceived grandparent gambling attitudes and behavior. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 29: 551-573

Langhinrichson-Rohling, J., Rohde, P., Seeley, J. R., and Rohling, M. L. (2004) Individual, family, and peer correlates of adolescent gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 20: 23–46.

Lavoie, M-P. and Ladouceur, R. (2004) Prevention of gambling among youth: increasing knowledge and modifying attitudes toward gambling. *Electronic Journal of Gambling Issues* 10 Available: <u>http://jgi.camh.net/doi/abs/10.4309/jgi.2004.10.7</u>

Lee, G.P., Storr, C.L., Ialongo, N.S., and Martins, S.S. (2013) Does adolescent gambling cooccur with young fatherhood? *The American Journal on Addictions* 22: 417–424.

Lee, G.P., Stuart, E.A, Ialongo, N.S., and Martins, S.S. (2013) Parental monitoring trajectories and gambling among a longitudinal cohort of urban youth. *Addiction* 109: 977–985.

Lesieur, H. (1984) *The Chase: The Career of the Compulsive Gambler*. Schenkman Books, Cambridge.

Lesieur, H. and Blume, S. (1987) The South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS): A new instrument for the identification of pathological gamblers. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 144: 1184-1188.

Lesieur, H. and Rosenthal, R. (1991) Pathological gambling: A review of the literature (prepared for the American Psychiatric Association Task Force on DSM-IV Committee on Disorders of Impulse Control not elsewhere classified) *Journal of Gambling Studies* 7: 5–39.

Lepper, J. (2005) Competition and control in the United Kingdom's Gambling policy *eCommunity:International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction*, Proceedings of the New Zealand International Gambling Conference: 21-28.

Lindsay, S., Thomas, S., Lewis, S. Westberg, K., Moodie, R. and Jones, S. (2013) Eat, drink and gamble: marketing messages about 'risky' products in an Australian sporting series. *BMC Public Health* 13: 719.

Lussier, ID, Derevensky, J.L., Vitario, F. and Gupta, G. (2014) Risk, compensatory, protective, and vulnerability factors related to youth gambling problems *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 28: 404-413.

Magoon, M. Gupta, R. and Derevensky J. (2005) Juvenile delinquency and adolescent gambling: implications for the juvenile justice system. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 32: 690-713.

Martins, S., Storr, C.L., Ialongo, N.S., and Chilcoat, H.D. (2008) Gender differences in mental health characteristics and gambling among African-American adolescent gamblers. *The American. Journal on Addictions* 17: 126–134

May-Chahal, C., Measham, F., Brannock, M., Amos, J., Dagnall, P. (2004) Young People and Gambling in Britain: a systematic and critical review of the research literature relating to gaming machine, lottery and pools coupons practice by children and young people under 18 Department for Culture, Media and Sport Technical Report Series.

McBride, J., and Derevensky, J.L, (2012) Internet gambling and risk-taking among students: An exploratory study. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions 1:* 50-58.

McComb, J. L., and Sabiston, C. M. (2010) Family influences on adolescent gambling behavior: A review of the literature *Journal of Gambling Studies* 26: 503–520. McGowan, V., Droessler, J., Nixon, G. and Grimshaw, M. (2000) *Recent Research in the Socio-Cultural Domain of Gaming and Gambling: An Annotated Bibliography and Critical Overview.* Alberta Gaming Research Institute, Edmonton, Alberta.

McMullan, J. (2011) *Gambling Advertising and Online Gambling*. Available: <u>http://www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/gamblingreform_ctte/interactive_online_gambling_adv</u> <u>ertising/submissions.htm</u>

McMullan, J., Miller, D. & Perrier, D. (2012). "I've seen them so much they are just there": exploring young people's perceptions of gambling in advertising. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 10: 829-848.

Measham, F. (1996) The 'big-bang' approach to sessional drinking: changing patterns of alcohol consumption amongst young people in north west England *Addiction Research* 4: 283-299.

Meerkamper, E. (2006) *Decoding Risk: Gambling Attitudes and Behaviours Amongst Youth in Nova Scotia.* Nova Scotia Gaming Corporation. Available at http://www.nsgamingfoundation.org/uploads/DecodingRiskReportV7.pdf

Mentzoni, R. A., Laberg, J.C., Brunborg, G.S., Molde, H. and Griffiths, M.D. (2012) Effects of sequential win occurrence on subsequent gambling behavior and urges. *Gambling Research* 24: 31–38.

Messerlian, C. and Derevensky, J.L. (2006) Social marketing campaigns for youth gambling prevention: lessons learned from youth. *International Journal of Mental Health, & Addiction* 4: 294-306.

Messerlian, C., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2004) A public health perspective for youth gambling. *International Gambling Studies* 4: 147-160.

Messerlian, C., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2005) Youth gambling problems: a public health perspective. *Health Promotion International* 20: 69-79.

Monaghan, S., and Derevensky, J. (2008) An appraisal of the impact of the depiction of gambling in society on youth. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 6: 1557–1574.

Monagahan, S., Derevensky, J., and Sklar, A. (2008) Impact of ambling advertisements and marketing on children and adolescents: policy recommendations to minimise harm. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 22:252–274.

Monaghan, S. M., and Wood, R. T. A. (2010). Internet-based interventions for youth dealing with gambling problems. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health* 22: 113–128.

Moodie, C. and Hastings, G. (2008) Gambling with the future of young people *Addiction Research and Theory* 16: 107-110.

Moran, E. (1987) *Gambling Among Schoolchildren: the Impact of the Fruit Machine*. National Council on Gambling, London.

MORI (2006) Under 16s and the National Lottery: Final Report. London, National Lottery Commission.

Moscovitch, A. (2006) *Gambling With Our (Kids') Futures: Gambling as a Family Policy Issue*. The Vanier Institute of the Family, Ottawa.

National Research Council (NRC) (1999) *Pathological Gambling: A Critical Review*. Academy Press, Washington DC.

Neal, P. Delfabbro, P. and O'Neil M. (2005) *Problem Gambling and Harm: Towards a National Definition.* Office of Gaming and Racing, Victorian Department for Justice, Melbourne. Available: www.gamblingresearch.org.au

New Zealand Ministry of Health (2014) Problem gambling, Available: <u>http://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/mental-health-and-addictions/problem-gambling</u>

Nowak, D.E. and Aloe, A.M. (2014) The prevalence of pathological gambling among college students: a meta-analytic sythnesis 2005-2013. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 30: 819-43.

Nower, I. and Blaszczynski, A. (2004) A pathways approach to treating youth gamblers in Derevensky, J. and Gupta, R. (eds.) *Gambling Problems in Youth: Theoretical and Applied Perspectives*. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York.

Nower, L., Derevensky, J. L., and Gupta, R. (2004) The relationship of impulsivity, sensation seeking, coping, and substance use in youth gamblers. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 18: 49–55.

Oei, T. P., and Raylu, N. (2004) Familial influence on offspring gambling: A cognitive mechanism for transmission of gambling behavior in families. *Psychological Medicine* 34: 1279–1288

Olason, D.T., Kristjansdottir, E., Einarsdottir, H., Haraldsson, H., Bjarnason, G. and. Derevensky, J.L. (2011) Internet gambling and problem gambling among 13 to 18 year old adolescents in Iceland. *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 9: 257–263

Orford, J. (1994) Empowering family and friends: A new approach to the secondary prevention of addiction. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 13: 417-29.

Orford, J. (2005) *Problem Gambling and Other Behavioural Addictions* (Department for Trade and Industry, London).

Orford, J., Sportson, K., Erens, B., (2003a) SOGS and DSM-IV in the British Gambling Prevalence survey: reliability and factor structure. *International Gambling Studies* 3: 53-65.

Orford, J., Sportson, K., Erens, B., White, C. and Mitchell, L. (2003b) *Gambling and Problem Gambling in Britain* Brunner-Routledge, London.

Owens, M.D. (2010) There's an app for that (or soon will be): Smartphones, social networking, and Internet gaming. *Gaming Law Review and Economics*, 14: 171–174.

Parke, J. and Griffiths, M.D., (2006). The psychology of the fruit machine: the role of structural characteristics (revisited)., International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 4: 151-179.

Parke, J., Wardle, H., Rigbye, J., and Parke, A. (2013) *Technical Report Exploring Social Gambling: Scoping, Classification and Evidence Review. UK Gambling Commission.* Birmingham: Gambling Commission.

Parker, H., William, L. and Aldridge, J. (1998) The normalisation of 'sensible' recreational drug use: Further evidence from north west England longitudinal study. *Sociology* 36: 941-964.

Plant, M. and Plant, M. (1992) Risk Takers: Alcohol, Drugs, Sex and Youth. London: Routledge.

Politzer, R.M., Yesalis, C.E., Hudak, C.J. Jr (1992) The epidemiologic model and the risks of legalised gambling: where are we headed? *Health Values* 16: 20-27.

Potenza, M.N., Fiellin, D.A., Heninger, G.R., Rounsaville, B.J. and Mazure, C.M. (2002) Gambling. An addictive behaviour with health and primary care implications. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 17: 721-732.

Potenza, M.N., Wareham, J.D., Steinberg, M.A., Rugle, L., Cavallo, D.A., Krishnan-Sarin, S., and Desai, R.A. (2011) Correlates of at-risk/problem Internet gambling in adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 50: 150–159.

Poulin, C. (2000) Problem gambling among adolescent students in the Atlantic Provinces of Canada. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 53-78.

Problem Gambling Foundation of New Zealand and Centre for Gambling Studies (2003) Supporting the Wellbeing of Young People in Relation to Gambling in New Zealand. Problem Gambling Foundation of NZ, Auckland.

Productivity Commission (2010) Gambling. Report No. 50. Canberra, Australia.

Prout, A. and James, A. (1990) (eds.) *Constructing and Reconstructing Childhood In the Sociological Study of Childhood*. Falmer Press, Bristol.

Prus, P. (2004) Gambling as activity: subcultural life-worlds, personal intrigues and persistent involvements *Electronic Journal of Gambling Issues* 10 Available: <u>http://jgi.camh.net/doi/full/10.4309/jgi.2004.10.9</u>

Purdie , N., Matters, G., Hillman, K., Murphy, M., Ozolins, C. and Millwood, P. (2011) *Gambling and Young People in Australia*. Gambling Research Australia, Melbourne. Available: <u>http://www.gamblingresearch.org.au/home/research/gra+research+reports/gambling+and+youn</u> <u>g+people+in+australia+%282011%29</u>

Purewal, J. (2012) The converging worlds of social gaming and gambling. *World Online Gambling Law Review* 11: 7-8.

Queensland Department of Justice and Attorney General (2015) Queensland Responsible Gambling Code of Practice v4. Available: <u>https://publications.qld.gov.au/dataset/responsible-gambling-code-of-practice-and-resource-manuals/resource/7c0d2522-e5eb-47a8-bd7b-</u> 41e0638c632e

Rahman, A.S., Pilver, C.E., Desai, R.A., Steinberg, M.A., Rugle, L., Krishnan-Sarin, S. and Potenza M.N. (2012) The relationship between age of gambling onset and adolescent problematic gambling severity. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 46: 675–683.

Raisamo, S., Halme, J., Murto, A., and Lintonen, T. (2013) Gambling-related harm among adolescents: A population-based study. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 29: 151-159.

Räsänen, T. Lintonen, T., Konu A., (2015) Gambling and problem behavior among 14- to 16year-old boys and girls in Finland *Journal of Gambling Issues* DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2015.31.1

Rehbein, F., Kleimann, M. & Mößle, T. (2010). Prevalence and risk factors of video game dependency in adolescence: Results of a German nationwide survey. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking.* 13: 269-277.

Romer, D., Betancourt, L. M., Brodsky, N. L., Giannetta, J. M., Yang, W., & Hurt, H. (2011). Does adolescent risk taking imply weak executive function? A prospective study of relations between working memory performance, impulsivity, and risk taking in early adolescence. *Developmental Science*.

Romer, D., Betancourt, L., Giannetta, J. M., Brodsky, N. L., Farah, M., & Hurt, H. (2009) Executive cognitive functions and impulsivity as correlates of risk taking and problem behavior in preadolescents. *Neuropsychologia* 47: 2916–2926.

Rossen, F. (2001) *Youth Gambling: A Critical Review of the Public Health Literature*. Centre for Gambling Studies, University of Auckland, New Zealand.

Rossen, F.V., Fleming, T., Lucassen, M., Denny, S., Peiris-John, R., Teevale, T. The Adolescent Health Research Group (2013) *The Health and Wellbeing of New Zealand Secondary School Students in 2012: Youth gambling*. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland.

Rossow, I. and Hansen, M. (2003) *Underholdning med bismak. Ungdom og pengespill.* NOVA rapport 1/2003. Oslo: Norsk institutt for forskning om oppvekst, velferd og aldring.

Sansanwal, R.M., Derevensky, J.L., Lupu, R.L. and Lupu V. (2015) Knowledge and attitudes regarding adolescent problem gambling: a cross-cultural comparative analysis of Romanian and CanadianTeachers *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 13: 33–48.

Scholes-Balog, K.E., Hemphill, S.A., Dowling, N.A., Toumbourou, J.W. (2014) A prospective study of adolescent risk and protective factors for problem gambling among young adults. *Journal of Adolescence* 37: 215–224.

Shaffer, H. and Hall, M. (1996) estimating the prevalence of adolescent gambling disorders: a quantitative synthesis and guide towards standard gambling nomenclature. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 12: 193-214.

Shaffer, H., & Korn, D. (2002) Gambling and related mental disorders: A public health analysis. *Annual Review of Public Health* 23: 171-212

Shead, W. N., Derevensky, J. L., and Gupta, R. (2010) Risk and protecting factors associated with youth problem gambling. *International Journal of Adolescents Medicine and Health* 22: 39-58.

Shead W.N., Derevensky, J.L. and Meerkamper, E. (2011) Your mother should know: a comparison of maternal and paternal attitudes and behaviors related to gambling among their adolescent children *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction* 9: 264–275.

Shead, W.N., Walsh K., Taylor, A., Derevensky, J.L. and Gupta R. (2011) Youth gambling prevention: can public service announcements featuring celebrity spokespersons be effective? *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction* 9: 165–179.

Shead, W. N., Derevensky, J. L., Fong, T.W. and Gupta, R (2012) Characteristics of internet gamblers among a sample of students at a large, public university in Southwestern United States *Journal of College Student Development* 53: 133-148.

Shenassa, E.D., Paradis, A.D., Dolan S.L., Wilhelm, C.S., and Buka, S.L. (2011) Childhood impulsive behavior and problem gambling by adulthood: a 30-year prospective community-based study. *Addiction* 107: 160–168.

Simmons, J.L., Whelan, J.P., Meyers, A.W. and Wickwire, E.M. (2016) Gambling outcome expectancies and gambling behavior among African-American adolescents: gender as a moderating variable. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 32: 205-215.

Slutske, W. S., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., and Poulton, R. (2005) Personality and problem gambling: A prospective study of a birth cohort of young adults. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 62: 769–775.

Smeaton, K. and Griffiths, M.D. (2004) Internet gambling and social responsibility: an exploratory study. *CyberPsychology and Behavior* 7: 49-57.

Smeaton, K., Poole, A., Chevis, A. and Carr, J. (2004) Underage internet gambling: study report *GamCare*, July 2004.

Splevins, K., Mireskandari, S., Clayton, K., and Blaszczynski, A. (2010) Prevalence of adolescent problem gambling, related harms and help-seeking behaviours among an Australian population. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 26: 189–204.

Steinberg, M.A. (1993) Couples treatment issues for recovering male compulsive gamblers and their partners. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 153-67.

Ste-Marie, C., Gupta, R. and Derevensky, J. (2006) Anxiety and social stress related to adolescent gambling behaviour and substance abuse. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse* 15: 55-73.

Stinchfield, R. (2000) Gambling and correlates of gambling among Minnesota public school students. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 153-173.

Stinchfield, R. (2011) Gambling among Minnesota public school students from 1992 to 2007: Declines in youth gambling. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 25: 108–117.

Storr, C.L., Lee, G.P., Derevensky, J.L., Ialongo, N.S., and Martins, S.S. (2012) Gambling and adverse life events among urban adolescents *Journal of Gambling Studies* 28:325–336.

St-Pierre, R. (2008) *Retailer Compliance with Youth Access Regulatory Policies*. Unpublished Master's thesis, McGill University.

St-Pierre, R., Derevensky, J.L, Gupta, R. and Martin, I. (2011) Preventing lottery ticket sales to minors: Factors influencing retailers' compliance behaviour. *International Gambling Studies* 11: 173-192.

St-Pierre, R., Temcheff, C.E., Gupta, R., Derevensky, J.L, and Paskus T.S. (2014) Predicting gambling problems from gambling outcome expectancies in college student-athletes *Journal Gambling Studies* 30:47–60.

Taylor, L.M. and Hillyard, P. (2009) Gambling awareness for youth. An analysis of the 'Don't Gamble Away our Future' program. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 7: 250-261.

Temcheff, C.E., Derevensky, J.L., St-Pierre, R.A., Gupta, R. and Martin, I. (2014). Beliefs and attitudes of mental health professionals with respect to gambling and other high risk behaviors in schools. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 12: 716-729

Temcheff, C.E., St. Pierre, R.A. and Derevensky, J.L. (2011) Youth gambling and delinquency: Legislative and social policy implications. *Gaming Law Review and Economics* 15: 539-552

Tepperman, L. (2009) *Betting their Lives: The Close Relations of Problem Gamblers*. Toronto, Oxford University Press

Tepperman, L., Albanese, P., and Stark, S. (2011) The intergenerational transmission of problem gambling: A sociological approach. Ontario, Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre.

Thomas, S. (2014) *Parents and Adolescents Discuss Gambling Advertising: a Qualitative Study*. Victoria, Australia, Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation.

Todirita, I.R. and Lupu, V. (2013) Gambling prevention program among children. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 29: 161-169.

Tremblay, G.C., Huffman, L. and Drabman, R.S. (1998) The effects of modelling and experience on young children's persistence at a gambling game *Journal of Gambling Studies* 14: 193-210.

Turner, N.E., Macdonald, J., Bartoshuk, M. and Zangeneh, M. (2008) The evaluation of a one hour prevention program for problem gambling. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 6: 238-243.

Turner, N., Wiebe, J., Falkowski-Ham, A., Kelly, J. and Skinner, W. (2005) Public awareness of responsible gambling and gambling behaviours in Ontario. *International Gambling Studies* 5: 95-112.

Uecker J.E. and Stokes, C.E. (2015) Religious background and gambling among young adults in the United States *Journal of Gambling Studies* DOI 10.1007/s10899-015-9532-3

Valentine, G. (1999) Being seen and heard? The ethical complexities of working with children and young people at home and at school. *Ethics, Place and Environment* 2: 141-155.

Valentine, G (2004) Public Space and the Culture of Childhood. Ashgate, Basingstoke.

Valentine, G., Holloway, S.L. and Jayne, M. (2010) Generational patterns of alcohol consumption: continuity and change. *Health & Place* 16: 916-925.

Valentine, G. and Hughes, K.A. (2010) Ripples in a pond: the disclosure to, and management of, problem internet gambling with/in the family. *Community, Work and Family* 13: 273-290.

Valentine, G. and Hughes, K.A. (2012) Shared space/distant lives? Understanding the meaning of personal relationships, family and intimacy at home through the lens of internet gambling *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 37(2): 242-255.

Valentine, G. and Skelton T. (1998) *Cool Places: Geographies of Youth Cultures*. Routledge, London.

van Rooij, A.J., Meerkerk, G., Schoenmakers, T.M., Griffiths, M.D., and van de Mheen, D. (2010) Video game addiction and social responsibility. *Addiction Research and Theory* 18: 489–493.

Vitaro, F., Hartl, A.C., Laursen, B., Brendgen M., Dionne, G. and Boivin, M. (2015) Reciprocal longitudinal associations between adolescent twin gambling and delinquency. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 31:1449–1461.

Vitaro F. and Wanner B. (2011) Predicting early gambling in children *The Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 25: 118–126.

Volberg, R.A. (2002) *Gambling and Problem Gambling Among Adolescents in Nevada* Carson City, NV: Nevada Department of Human Resources. Available at: www.geminiresearch.com

Volberg, R.A., Gupta, R., Griffiths, M.D., Olason, D.T. and Delfabbro, P. (2010) An international perspective on youth gambling prevalence studies. *International Journal Adolescent Medicine and Health* 22: 3-38

Walters, G.D. (2001) Behavior genetic research on gambling and problem gambling: a preliminary meta-analysis of available data. *Journal of Gambling Studies*: 17, 255-71.

Wanner, B., Vitaro, F., Carbonneau, R., & Tremblay, R.E., (2009) Cross-lagged links among gambling, substance abuse, and delinquency from mid adolescence to young adulthood: additive and moderating effects of common risk factors. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 23: 91–104.

Wardle, H. Moody, A., Spence, S., Orford, J., Volberg, R., Jotangia, D., Griffiths, M. Hussey, D. and Dobbie, F. (2010) *British Gambling Prevalence Survey 2010*. Gambling Commission, Birmingham.

Wardle, H., Seabury, C., Ahmed, H., Payne, C., Byron, C., Corbett, J., and Sutton, R. (2014) *Report on Gambling Behaviour in England and Scotland: Headline findings from the Health Survey for England and Scottish Health Survey 2012.* London: NatCen.

Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C., & Hoffman, J. H. (2008) The prevalence of problem gambling among U.S. adolescents and young adults: results from a national survey. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 24: 119–133.

Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C., & Hoffman, J. H. (2009)The association of form of gambling with problem gambling among American youth. *Psychology of Addictive Behavior* 23: 105-102.

White, M., Mun, P., Kauffman, N., Whelan, C. and Regan, M. (2007) *Teen Gambling in Ontario: Behavior and Perceptions Among 15-17 Year Olds.* Responsible Gambling Council, Ontario, Canada.

Wiebe, J.M. and Cox, B.J. (2005) Problem and probable pathological gambling among older adults assess by the SOGS-R. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 21: 205–221.

Wiebe, J., Cox, B. and Mehmel, B. (2000) The South Oaks Gambling Screen revised for adolescents (SOGS-RA) further psychometric findings from a community sample *Journal of Gambling Studies* 16: 275-288.

Wiebe, J., Single, G. and Falkowski-Ham A. (2001) *Measuring Gambling and Problem Gambling in Ontario*. The Responsible Gambling Council Ontario, Canada.

Williams, R.J., Connolly, D., Wood, R.T., Currie, S. & Davis R.M. (2004) Program findings that inform curriculum development for the prevention of problem gambling. *Gambling Research* 16: 47-69.

Williams, R.J., West, B.L. and Simpson, R.I. (2007) *Prevention of Problem Gambling: A Comprehensive Review of the Evidence.* Report prepared for the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre, Guelph Ontario, Canada.

Williams, R.J., West, B.L. and Simpson, R.I. (2012) *Prevention of Problem Gambling: A Comprehensive Review of the Evidence, and Identified Best Practices.* Report prepared for the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre and the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care. October <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10133/3121</u>

Williams, R.J., Wood, R.T. and Currie, S. (2010) Stacked deck: an effective school-based program for the prevention of problem gambling. *Journal of Primary Prevention* 31: 109-125.

Wilson, D. and Ross, N. (2011) Place, gender and the appeal of video lottery terminal gambling: unpacking a focus group study of Montreal youth. *Geojournal* 76: 123-138.

Winters, K., Stinchfield, R.D. and Fulkerson, J. (1993a) Toward the development of an adolescent gambling problem severity scale. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 371-386.

Winters, K., Stinchfield, R.D. and Fulkerson, J. (1993b) Patterns and characteristics of adolescent gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 9: 371-386.

Winters, K., Stinchfield, R. and Kim, L. (1995) Monitoring adolescent gambling in Minnesota *Journal of Gambling Studies* 11: 165-183.

Wong, I.L.K. (2010) Internet gambling: A school-based survey among Macau students. *Social Behavior and Personality: an International Journal*, 38: 365–371

Wood, R. (2004) Adolescent lottery and scratchcard players: Do their attitudes influence their gambling behaviour? *Journal of Adolescence* 27: 467-475.

Wood, R. and Griffiths M.D. (1998) The acquisition, development and maintenance of lottery and scratchcard gambling in adolescence *Journal of Adolescence*, 21: 265-73.

Wood, R. and Griffiths, M.D. (2002) Adolescent perceptions of the National Lottery and scratchcards: a qualitative study using group interviews *Journal of Adolescence* 25: 655-668.

Wood, R. and Griffiths, M.D. (2004) Adolescent lottery and scratchcard players: do their attitudes influence their gambling behaviour? *Journal of Adolescence* 27: 467-475.

Wood, R. and Griffiths, M.D. (2007a) A qualitative investigation of problem gambling as an escape-based coping strategy, *The British Psychological Society* 80: 107-125.

Wood, R. and Griffiths, M. (2007b) On-line guidance, advice and support for problem gamblers and concerned relatives and friends: an evaluation of the GamAid pilot service. *British Journal of Guidance and Counselling* 35: 373-389.

Wood R., Griffiths, M., Dervensky, J.L. and Gupta, R. (2002) Adolescent accounts of the UK National Lottery and scratchcards: an analysis using Q-Sorts *Journal of Gambling Studies* 18: 161-183.

Wood, R., Gupta, R., Derevensky, J. and Griffiths, M. (2004) Video game playing and gambling in adolescents: common risk factors *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse* 14: 77-99.

Wood, R. and Williams, R.J. (2007) Internet gambling: past, present and future, in Smith, G., Hodgins, D. and Williams, R.J. (eds.) *Research and Measurement Issues in Gambling Studies* Elsevier, San Diego: pp. 491-514.

Wood, R., & Williams, R. J. (2009). Internet gambling: Prevalence, patterns, problems, and policy options (D. O. Sociology, Trans.). Final Report prepared for the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre. Guelph, Ontario: University of Lethbridge.

Yeoman, T. and Griffiths, M.D. (1996) Adolescent machine gambling and crime. *Journal of Adolescence* 19: 99-104.

Yip, S. W., Desai, R. A., Steinberg, M. A., Rugle, L., Cavallo, D. A., Krishnan-Sarin, S. and Potenza, M.N. (2011) Health/functioning characteristics, gambling behaviors, and gambling-related motivations in adolescents stratified by gambling problem severity: Findings from a high school survey. *American Journal on Addictions* 20: 495–508.

Zangeneh, M., Mann, R. E., McCready, J., and Oseni, L. (2010) Gambling in ethnic adolescent populations: an exploratory study of the utility of problem behaviour theory as an explanatory framework. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 8: 51–69.